

## Kentucky Education and Workforce Collaborative Meeting

## Meeting Minutes 01.25.2024 Meeting 1:30 pm-3:30 pm EST

### Call Meeting to Order – 1:32 p.m. ET

Beth Brinly, Chair and Deputy Secretary of Education and Labor Cabinet, welcomed everyone.

Entity Name	Contact in Attendance
Governor Andy Beshear	
Secretary John Hicks, Executive Cabinet	
Designated Chair Deputy Secretary Beth Brinly, Education and Labor Cabinet	Х
Secretary Jeff Noel, proxy Mike Yoder, Cabinet for Economic Development	Х
Secretary Jamie Link, Education and Labor Cabinet	
Secretary Friedlander, proxy Deputy Secretary Carrie Banahan, Cabinet for Health and Family Services	х
Secretary Keith Jackson, proxy Deputy Commissioner Lisa Lamb, Justice and Public Safety Cabinet	х
Judge Orbrey Gritton, Anderson County Judge/Executive	
Michael Gritton, proxy Correy Eimer, Local Workforce Director	Х
Dr. Kathy Sheppard-Jones, Human Development Institute	
Dr. Ryan Quarles, proxy Jessie Schook, Kentucky Community and Technical College System	х
Kim Menke, Kentucky Workforce Innovation Board	Х
Dr. Aaron Thompson, proxy Dr. Leslie Sizemore, Council on Postsecondary Education	Х
Amanda Curry, Job Corps	
Dr. Bob Jackson, proxy Chris Wooldridge, CPE Conference of Presidents	Х
Interim Commissioner Robin Fields Kinney, proxy Regan Satterwhite, Kentucky Department of Education	х
BG Steven Bullard, proxy Dallas Kratzer, Kentucky Commission on Military Affairs	
Ashli Watts, proxy LaKisha Miller, Kentucky Chamber of Commerce	Х
Winston Miller, proxy Kaye McAfee, Kentucky Housing Corporation	Х
Tom Underwood, Kentucky National Federation of Independent Business	Х

Additional Attendees: Amy Luttrell, Ashley Runyon, Becky Wilson, Clarizza Singayao, Cody Branham, David Potter, David Verry, Dylon Baker, Jake Fouts, Jenni Hampton, Jessica Hinkle, Lynn Baker, Myra Wilson, Nicole Megles, Ramona Brock, Sara Russell, Sherry Duffy, Tiffanie Reeves, Todd Trapp, Tommy Wheatley

Staff: Alisher Burikhanov, Debbie Dennison, Elishah Taylor, LaChrista Ellis

### Welcome and Overview

Beth Brinly, Chair and Deputy Secretary of Education and Labor Cabinet, expressed her gratitude to all the attendees for being present. She briefly walked through the agenda. She then introduced Amy Luttrell, President/CEO of Goodwill Industries of KY, for an overview of Benefit Cliffs.

### **Introduction to Benefit Cliffs**

**Amy Luttrell** expressed gratitude for the Education and Workforce Collaborative Board's (Collaborative) attention to Kentucky's public benefit structure and its impact on lower-income families as well as the state's economy. She underscored that proactively addressing barriers for those not in the workforce is one of several goals of the Kentucky Workforce Innovation Board (KWIB) Workforce Participation committee of which she is the Chair. Benefit cliffs arising from eligibility criteria have been of focus for that committee for a while and she is grateful for the support of the Education and Labor Cabinet in funding an analysis report. Amy referred to the Family Resource Simulator on the KYSTATS website, and how it illustrates the interaction between earned income changes and possible impacts to government benefits. She continued recognizing work of the National Center for Children in Poverty / Bank Street Graduate Program (NCCP) analysis, emphasizing the report and the work being done to update the simulator. Amy utilized examples in the analysis to illustrate how shifts in income can lead to families losing their eligibility for benefits subsequently influencing choices like opting for part-time work or rejecting promotions. She stressed the various economic repercussions for Kentucky and urged consideration of the recommendations aimed at increasing labor force participation and tackling unemployment and underemployment, with the goal of strengthening the Commonwealth's economy. She concluded by stating that this is a systemic issue that requires attention and change.

Beth thanked Amy for the introduction to Benefit Cliffs, and she welcomed **Karen Chatfield**, **Director of Family Economic Security at the National Center for Children in Poverty (NCCP)**, to present an overview of their analysis and recommendations.

### **Overview of Benefit Cliffs and Recommendations**

**Karen Chatfield** thanked Amy Luttrell and expressed gratitude towards Deputy Secretary Brinly for utilizing their services. She began her overview and referenced a page from the report on "How many enrolled families are most likely to encounter specific cliffs?" She stated that although there are other cliffs, the focus of this analysis was the childcare cliff, Medicaid for adult's cliff, KCHIP cliff, and the SNAP cliff. She shared that the report uses administrative data provided by the Cabinet for Health and Family Services (CHFS) and continued an overview of how many families are likely to face specific benefit cliffs in the next two years. She referenced a graph illustrating the "Potential Aggregate Impacts of Benefit Cliffs", emphasizing the importance of examining it to grasp the impact on families. The graph illustrated the net resources lost if families opt not to navigate through the cliffs.

After a brief overview of the NCCP report, Karen provided a review of the recommendations. The following are the *list of recommendations*:

### **Childcare Cliffs**

Largest benefit cliff facing Kentucky families currently occurs when parents lose access to subsidized childcare - happens when parents earn 85% of the State Median Income (SMI).

Recommendations:

- Decrease copayments for low-income families. Families without earnings should pay nothing for subsidized care. Copayments would start at 3% of earnings when families' income is \$17,000 and gradually increase to no more than 7% of earnings when families' earnings reach 85% of the state median income (SMI), which is the current exit threshold for subsidized care.
- Extend the exit income threshold to 125% SMI.
- Between 85%-125% SMI require subsidy copayments that steeply increase as parents' earnings grow, coming close to the cost of private care (ramping to the exit threshold).

### **Childcare Sector**

54% of Kentucky parents surveyed struggle to find childcare; in some cases, having to provide childcare themselves (changing working status)

### General Recommendations:

To help mitigate "childcare issues":

- Incentivize childcare workers to work in subsidized centers.
- Offer refundable tax credits to childcare workers.
- Expand Kentucky's subsidized care system by taking actions to support childcare centers and attract eligible families.
- Reduce administrative burdens from parents' access to subsidized childcare.
- Establish employer-funded childcare tax credits.
- Continue support for employers' contributions to childcare expenses through the Employee Child Care Assistance Program (ECCAP).
- Conduct a state-wide assessment of subsidy take-up and provision (identifying underemployment).
- Educate employers on benefit cliffs and impacts and encourage intentionality of promotions.

### **Medicaid Cliffs**

Loss of Medicaid for adults is occurring at a relatively low earnings level (138% FPL – roughly \$34,000 for a family of three resulting in loss from \$1,000 - \$3,639 annually)

### Recommendations:

- Augmented campaign to target low-income families with the importance of signing up and using silver-level Qualified health plans (QHPs).
- Adoption of a state-funded Basic Health Program (BHP).

### **SNAP Cliffs**

Kentucky already has used the most effective tool afforded to states in reducing benefit cliffs resulting from the loss of this federal support – the extension of the gross income limit to 200% FPL under Broad-Based Categorical Eligibility.

### *Limited Recommendation:*

- Adjust copayments for subsidized care to a lower percentage of family incomes for low-income families (gradually shifting up to 7% as parents' earnings approach 85% SMI.
- Increase efforts to mitigate high childcare costs of private childcare can produce smaller SNAP cliffs supporting a phasing out of the benefit.

Deputy Secretary Brinly expressed gratitude for the review and inquired if there were any questions before proceeding with the discussion. No questions were raised.

### **Discussion**

Deputy Secretary Brinly asked the board about their thoughts on the recommendations. A comment was made about the Medicaid recommendations and the importance of increasing efforts to provide additional agents and navigators as support systems to help families secure their needs in the future.

There was discussion around leveraging the information and including a living wage as part of the conversation. Deputy Secretary Brinly shared that an opportunity exists to provide training and education to businesses about cliffs and mitigating them. This analysis could lend to business and industry discussions about talent pipeline and retention strategies. She then welcomed other perspectives or comments. Discussions around utilizing this information in an informative way to educate workforce stakeholders continued.

A discussion was had around the role of education and support systems in bridging entry-level workforce individuals to career-level jobs. One comment lifted the importance of career coaching and advisory services. Discussions around achieving financial security was also had that included consistent and continued education of viable pathways and marketing of career opportunities. This approach aims to empower families to move up the career ladder, making informed decisions with the right support systems in place.

The conversation continued around investing in education and adopting consistent messaging approaches. An ongoing commitment to investing in education and aiding entry-level employees in advancing their careers is critical. Solutions to these challenges consistently points to education as the fundamental key to progression.

Public-private partnerships around health and childcare were highlighted. Employers often struggle with the affordability of health insurance and some employers may not be aware of options within the system that can assist in covering the costs of health insurance for spouses and families; again, highlighting the need to share the available resources and information with employers.

Furthermore, encouraging employer participation is crucial, and the current system's complexity and cost-effectiveness concerns can create hesitancy among employers. Simplifying the process, making it transparent, and minimizing hurdles are essential for encouraging employer involvement. Also raised was the shortage of childcare facilities and a workforce for the childcare center. Recommendations included incentives and financial assistance to employers. Deputy Secretary Brinly stated that there are three apprenticeships around childcare currently available: worker, administrator, and educator. Discussion around established employer-funded childcare tax credits was had and a question of what other states had done was raised. KWIB staff will research this opportunity and provide feedback.

During final comments, the resource simulator was regarded as a valuable tool for case management. The discussion also highlighted the need to address the shortage of childcare workers and streamline processes. Also raised was the importance of keeping families eligible during challenging times and focusing on under-utilized non-cash programs for self-sufficiency. It was noted that the shortage of childcare workers is a messaging issue, with low wages offered compared to other professions. Recommendations for additional value to be placed on childcare careers were made and the importance of breaking stigmas associated with programs and educating individuals on accessing credentials at no cost. The final comment emphasized the need for tuition-forward programs to encourage education while employed, fostering continued post-secondary training.

The commitment to distribute the final version of the report and incorporate key points, such as business services, training programs, and streamlined processes for individuals and employers, was reiterated.

A matrix of recommendations for prioritizing and identifying challenges was requested. This matrix will also enable a comprehensive understanding of the strategic plans, providing insights into the anticipated outcomes and benefits of these activities.

Deputy Secretary Brinly asked KWIB staff to build out the matrix and will use it during upcoming discussions around the recommendations at KWIB's quarterly meeting.

### Updates on previous work groups

- Jobs on Day One Expansion of reentry collaboration across the state continues as two labor unions, the ironworkers, and the painters, have been added.
- *Work-Based Learning* The work is continued through the Kentucky Launch Initiative.
- Veterans Resources The workgroup met and worked on developing the asset map of all resources available for veterans.
- WIOA State Plan The state plan is currently posted for a 30-day period of public comments. These comments will be addressed in the upcoming KWIB meeting, and the finalized plan will be submitted by March 4th, 2024.

Deputy Secretary Brinly thanked the KWIB staff and the regions for hosting and gathering suggestions across the state. She invited everyone to participate in the Digital Equity Summit that will be held on February 26th and 27th in Louisville. She also gave some details about the day's events and expressed her gratitude to Goodwill for their prompt assistance in organizing the event. For more information on the Summit visit digitalequity.ky.gov.

The next Collaborative board meeting on April 18th. Deputy Secretary Brinly expressed gratitude for everyone's participation.

#### 3:04 PM Adjournment

#### **NEXT STEPS**

- Create a matrix of recommendations for prioritizing and identifying challenges. This matrix will also enable a comprehensive understanding of the strategic plans, providing insights into the anticipated outcomes and benefits of these activities.
- Attribute more value to the childcare career, breaking stigmas associated with programs, and educating individuals on accessing credentials.
- Follow up with examples of states that have encouraged and seen employer-funded childcare tax credits utilized and what were the outcomes.
- Inform employers about options within the exchange to cover health insurance costs for spouses and families. It's crucial to find effective ways to disseminate this information.



# Kentucky Education & Workforce Collaborative Board Meeting Briefing Book

January 25, 2024

1:30 - 3:30 pm EST

Intentionally Left Blank





## Kentucky Education and Workforce Collaborative Meeting January 25, 2024, 1:30-3:30 pm EST

## **Table of Contents**

	Page
Agenda	
October 12, 2023, Meeting Minutes	5
Information From Partners:	
Kentucky Benefit Cliffs Summary	8





# Kentucky Education and Workforce Collaborative Meeting

## AGENDA

## Thursday, January 25, 2024

1:00pm EST In-Person Networking; Meeting 1:30pm-3:30pm EST

**IN-PERSON** 

500 Mero Street, Frankfort KY; 3rd floor Conference

Room

Virtual Option - Join Zoom Meeting

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87635681320?pwd=owuliNmEaG40EWLnqRLGlku8CGd59J.1

Meeting ID: 876 3568 1320 Passcode: 834714

### 1:30PM CALL MEETING TO ORDER

Welcome and Overview	Beth Brinly, Chair Deputy Secretary, Education and Labor Cabinet (ELC)
	reputy secretary, education and cabor cabinet (ecc)
<b>1:40pm Introduction to Benefit Cliffs</b> Amy	y Luttrell, President/CEO, Goodwill Industries of KY
1:50pm Overview of Benefit Cliffs and Recommendations	ren Chatfield, Director of Family Economic Security National Center for Children in Poverty (NCCP)
2:15pm Discussion	
Questions for discussion	Beth Brinly
1. What are the thoughts on the recommendations?	
2. How do we prioritize and measure; what metrics are most useful?	
3. What are the strategies to socialize the report with the various tar audiences?	get
3:10pm Updates on previous work groups	Beth Brinly
Jobs on Day One	
Work-Based Learning	
Veterans Resources	

WIOA State Plan

#### **3:25PM CLOSING COMMENTS**

#### **3:30PM ADJOURNMENT**





# Kentucky Education and Workforce Collaborative Meeting

### Meeting Minutes for 10.12.23 In-Person ONLY Meeting - 1:30-3:30 p.m. ET Optional In-Person Networking - 1 p.m. ET

Website Link:

### Call Meeting to Order – 1:30 p.m. ET

Beth Brinly, Chair and Deputy Secretary of Education and Labor Cabinet, welcomed everyone.

Entity Name	Contact in Attendance
Governor Andy Beshear – Secretary John Hicks	n/a
Kentucky Education and Labor Cabinet	Deputy Secretary Beth Brinly (Chair)
Kentucky Cabinet of Economic Development – Deputy	Proxy Kristina Slattery
Commissioner Kristina Slattery	
Department of Workforce Development	Proxy Deputy Commissioner Michelle
	Dejohn
Kentucky Department of Education	n/a
Kentucky Cabinet for Health & Family Services	Proxy Deputy Secretary Carrie Banahan
Kentucky Justice & Public Safety	n/a
Kentucky Workforce Innovation Board	Proxy Lori Ulrich
Kentucky Council on Post-Secondary Education	Proxy Dr. Lee Nimocks
Kentucky Council on Post-Secondary Education Conference of	Proxy Chris Wooldridge
Presidents (representing the Presidents) - Dr. Bob Jackson	
Kentucky Commission on Military Affairs - BG Steven Bullard /	n/a
Dallas Kratzer	
Kentucky Chamber of Commerce	Proxy LaKisha Miller
Kentucky Housing Corporation	Proxy Kaye McAfee
Chief Local Elected Official (representing the LEOs through KACo)	n/a
Local Board Director (representing the 10)	Proxy Correy Eimer
State Director of the Kentucky National Federation of Independent	
Business - Tom Underwood	n/a
Kentucky Human Development Institute (HDI) of University of KY	n/a
Job Corps Director (representing the 7)	n/a
Kentucky Community and Technical College Systems	Proxy Jessie Schook

Additional attendees: Billie Johnson (DLG), Gabe Nickell (DLG), Irene Yates (KOR), Andrea Day (DCBS/ DCC), Correy Eimer, Ashley Runyon (EEC), Todd Trapp (CHFS / DCBS/ DFS), Sarah Stoll (KLC), Cora McNabb (OVR), Kim Grasberger (OLLS), Jason Hutchinson, Regan Wann, Shelby Stratton (CDO), Logan Rupard (KYSTATs)

Staff: Alisher Burikhanov, Debbie Dennison, LaChrista Ellis, Elishah Taylor

### Welcome and Introduction

**Beth Brinly, Chair and Deputy Secretary of Education and Labor Cabinet** (ELC) expressed her appreciation for each partner and explained the focus of the meeting, which is The WIOA 2024 State Plan. She walked through the agenda and discussion breakout goals for the meeting.

### 2024 State Plan Overview

Alisher Burikhanov, Executive Director of the Kentucky Workforce Innovation Board thanked everyone for coming. He reminded the group that this is the last meeting for the Collaborative for the year. He shared that every four (4) years, the Department of Labor, through the Workforce Innovation and Opportunities Act (WIOA) requires each state's workforce development board to create a <u>State Plan</u>. The WIOA State Plans outline what each State or Territory is doing to help Americans, including youth and those with significant barriers to employment, enter into high-quality jobs and careers and help employers hire and retain skilled workers. KWIB staff is collaborating with local areas to convene stakeholder and focus group meetings to build out themes and direction for the next four years.

### State Plan Discussion

**Overview: Beth Brinly, Deputy Secretary** explained the planned activity of breaking into three different groups and focusing on one question per work group. They will discuss the question on hand based on the workgroup (Practice, Data, and Policy). They will discuss what the workforce is doing currently and transition on what to prioritize to make the workforce better. Each group will rotate to a new room to add to the discussion board. Each group will finish in the room they started in to go over what has been said and add to the discussion board if needed before returning to the main room for discussion.

### Questions and the top discussion points that emerged:

- 1. What are the practices that transition your service population to better employment outcomes? (Practice Breakout Group)
  - a. Track and Market Return on Investments through stakeholder communication and education (set and define expectations, stakeholders to put "skin in the game", elevate competency based-hiring
  - b. Use of Technology, AI, Sector Innovation, Digital Equity, VR Training, to support development of citizens in development and success; include high impact and vigorous updating (need more funding; effective braiding of funds; maximum collaboration)
  - c. Re-evaluation of services / expectations Non-Traditional is the norm.

Other: Proactive and consistent approaches between workforce and employer needed; intentional futurefacing training / focus; Language used matters: intentional and accessible marketing and education needed for priority populations

# 2. What are the key metrics that your organization uses to measure outcomes related to employment? (Data Breakout Group)

- a. Data sharing / standardization across partners (of measurements and of definitions)
- b. True and consistent analyzation of data received.
- c. Employer data tied to Individual outcomes

Other: Tie Education and Training to Sustainable Employment; WBL / credential learning and outcomes (tracking other outcomes than just RAPs); Deeper data analysis for priority populations

- 3. What ate the policy opportunities that would allow for mutually reinforcing employment outcomes? (Policy Breakout Group)
  - a. Private Public partnership policies

- b. Placement tracking and retention with job quality principles as measurements
- c. Licensure and interstate agreements (occupational) reciprocity from other states.

Other: Educating Employers on resources (finishing degrees); benefit cliff related policies that help with transition; gap assistance ("flat tire fund") targeted to individuals in unique situations; additional support for untapped talent (ex: foster youth); rewarding employers with quality jobs; linkage – economic development (equitable development)

#### Next Steps

What are the major themes discussed that we can jointly collaborate on to better support Kentucky's talent pipeline needs?

- 1. Practice
  - a. Track and Market Return on Investments through stakeholder communication and education (set and define expectations, stakeholders to put "skin in the game", elevate competency based-hiring

#### 2. Data

- a. Data sharing / standardization across partners (of measurements and of definitions)
- 3. Policy
  - a. Private Public partnership policies

#### **Closing Comments**

**Beth Brinly, Deputy Secretary** pointed out that, outside of the Data Breakout Group, reaffirming with the local workforce areas came out of most of the discussions, and having that alignment is key. The KWIB will reflect the outcomes from this meeting and the listening session at the <u>KWIB Board Meeting on November 2nd</u>. The KWIB Board will have a discussion about their four north stars and compare them with what they have heard out in the field to help strengthen the workforce in the next coming years through the State Plan.

The next meeting for the Kentucky Education and Workforce Collaborative Board Meeting will have a report on the Benefits Cliff which includes childcare and healthcare. They will provide recommendations from the study that was done.

**Kaye McAfee, Kentucky Housing Corporation** thanked the group for having her. She went over how it is important to be at the table to collaborate. She also spoke about the affordable housing issue employees and employers are having in the workforce.

**Debbie Dennison, Deputy Executive Director, KWIB**, also lifted up Ashley Runyon from the Office of Energy Policy at the Kentucky Energy & Environment Cabinet as an excellent new partner in the workforce ecosystem. They have numerous grants that have a workforce component, and she will be reaching out to partners in the space.

Alisher Burikhanov shared a briefing booklet contents for participants to take, that include many of the organizations that are represented at the meeting. The one-pagers were passed out at the end of the Collaborative Meeting.

**Beth Brinly, Deputy Secretary** thanked the team for all they have done in setting up for this meeting. She mentioned that they will be sending out the meetings for the 2024 calendar year.

Adjournment – 3:00 p.m. ET

# BENEFIT CLIFFS AFFECTING KENTUCKY FAMILIES AND RELATED POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS: FINAL FINDINGS

Prepared by: The National Center for Children in Poverty (NCCP) at Bank Street Graduate School of Education With assistance from the Kentucky Center for Statistics (KYSTATS)

> For: Kentucy Workforce Innovation Board (KWIB) and The Commonwealth of Kentucky

# About the National Center for Children in Poverty (NCCP)

The National Center for Children in Poverty (NCCP), founded within Columbia University and as of July 2019 located at Bank Street Graduate School of Education, is a nonpartisan public policy research center dedicated to promoting the economic security, health, and well-being of America's low-income families and children. NCCP uses research to inform policy and practice with the goal of ensuring positive outcomes for the next generation. It conducts research and policy analysis and uses existing evidence to identify effective, innovative strategies that can improve the lives of children and families experiencing economic hardship. The Center provides accessible information and recommendations about research-informed policies and initiatives that can help families and communities support children's success from infancy through young adulthood.

NCCP reaches a large audience with its reports, online data tools, policy resources, technical assistance, and partnerships. This audience includes state and local policymakers, advocates, community leaders, researchers, and administrators in government agencies that use NCCP's research and analyses to make informed decisions about policies and programs that promote secure, nurturing families and thriving children. NCCP often partners with government officials, advocates, and other stakeholders to plan and carry out policy research and analysis—an approach that fully engages decision-makers and helps ensure that results will be used to strengthen policies and programs.

Key areas of the Center's work include safety net policies, immigrant families, paid family leave, disability policies, early childhood mental health, early intervention, early care and education policies, and two-generation approaches. NCCP's online resources include the Family Resource Simulator, the 50-State Policy Tracker, the 50-State Demographic Data Generator, Early Childhood State Policy Profiles, and the Basic Needs Budget Calculator.

Karen Chatfield, Ph.D. and Camille Smith, MSW, were the primary NCCP researchers on this study. We relied on state government partners at the Kentucky Center for Statistics (KYSTATS) and the Cabinet for Health and Family Services (CHFS) to provide collaborative insights and administrative data, as well as American Community Survey (ACS) data and other sources to model individual and aggregate impacts and to research recommendations. We are grateful to all, including those from the Kentucky Workforce Innovation Board and stakeholders in the Kentucky policy community, who provided input of the many important questions raised during this work. NCCP acknowledges support from the Ford Foundation for additional support with this work.

### **ACRONYMS**

- American Community Survey ACS BHP **Basic Health Program** CCAP Child Care Assistance Program CCDF Child Care Development Fund CDCC Child and Dependent Care Credit CHFS Cabinet for Health and Family Services Child Tax Credit CTC EITC Earned Income Tax Credit Federal Poverty Line FPL **Family Resource Simulator** FRS KCHIP
- Kentucky Children's Health Insurance Program
- Kentucky Temporary Assistance Program KTAP
- Kentucky Workforce Innovation Board KWIB
- KYSTATS **Kentucky Center for Statistics**
- National Center for Children in Poverty NCCP
- **Qualified Health Plan** QHP
- State Median Income SMI
- Supplementation Nutritional Assistance Program SNAP
- Temporary Assistance for Needy Families TANF
- Special Supplemental Program for Women, Infants, and Children Nutrition Program WIC

# **Table of Contents**

INTRODUCTION	6
WHY ECONOMIC MOBILITY MATTERS	6
Methods	
RESULTS	8
Benefit Cliffs Affecting Kentucky Families	8
Estimated Impacts of Benefit Cliffs	9
Key recommendations	9
SECTION 1: IDENTIFYING BENEFIT CLIFFS	
WHAT IS A "BENEFIT CLIFF"?	
A simple example of a single benefit cliff in Kentucky	
Background	
Kentucky families requiring benefit assistance	
Unemployment in Kentucky Through the Pandemic Recovery	
Potential Underemployment	
Early Phase of Research on Kentucky's Benefit Cliffs	
ANALYSIS OF BENEFIT CLIFFS	
Calculating Net Resources	
Summaries of social programs most likely to cause current benefit cliffs	22
Overview of benefit cliffs by family type in Kentucky	
ESTIMATED IMPACTS OF BENEFIT CLIFFS	
Childcare Cliff Impacts	
Adult Medicaid and KCHIP Cliff Impacts	
SNAP Cliff Impacts	
SECTION 2: POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS	
CHILDCARE CLIFF RECOMMENDATIONS	
MEDICAID CLIFF RECOMMENDATIONS	
SNAP CLIFF: LIMITED RECOMMENDATIONS	
GENERAL RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING THE CHILDCARE SECTOR	
Additional recommendations	
APPENDIX A: FRS METHODOLOGY	54
APPENDIX B: PRELIMINARY BENEFIT CLIFF ANALYSES IN LATE 2022	
APPENDIX C: FAMILIES RECEIVING CCAP SUBSIDIES	57
APPENDIX D: ADMINISTRATIVE DATA ON FAMILIES RECEIVING MEDICAID OR KCHIP	
APPENDIX E: ADMINISTRATIVE DATA ON FAMILIES RECEIVING SNAP	59
APPENDIX F: SIZE OF CLIFFS IN FRS DATA	60
APPENDIX G: EXPENDITURES ON CCAP COPAYMENTS AS PERCENTAGE OF EARNINGS	61



This page intentionally left blank.



# Introduction

Families' benefit cliffs occur when an increase in parents' income causes them to lose access to a public benefit program and the loss of the benefit results in a negative drop or "cliff" in net resources. These cliffs leave families with reduced financial resources even as earnings increase. When faced with benefit cliffs, parents may elect to leave the workforce, turn down new jobs or promotions, or avoid working additional hours in order to continue to receive benefits for themselves and their families. Benefit cliffs can trap workers in employment with lower salaries and limited hours of work, preventing advancement and prosperity. For some families, these cliffs keep them in poverty, unable to move beyond low-income wages. Alternatively, if workers "power through" benefit cliffs, the resulting loss of net resources can be significant enough to return them to poverty before they can increase their earnings further. In short, benefit cliffs can threaten the economic mobility that enables families and communities to thrive.

This report summary presents the results of research that examined benefit cliffs affecting families in Kentucky. It includes estimated costs of benefit cliffs to parents and their children and, more broadly, the negative impacts of cliffs on the economic health of the Commonwealth. Based on the results and state-specific benefit policies, the report presents recommendations for reducing or eliminating benefit cliffs, and potential benefits of advancing these recommendations to families and the state economy. Key highlights of the report summary include:

- A brief discussion of why economic mobility matters for children, families, and state economies
- Methods
- Results
- Key recommendations

Details on methods and a more extensive discussion of the findings and recommendations can be found in subsequent sections

# Why economic mobility matters

Low-income parents' economic mobility is essential to secure families, healthy communities, and a thriving economy, and it is also foundational to the well-being of children. A large body of research demonstrates the association between families' financial insecurity and children's poor emotional and cognitive outcomes, less optimal health, and lower levels of educational achievement.<sup>1</sup> These outcomes, in turn, predict lower rates of employment and earnings in adulthood. Central findings from this research include the following:

- Poverty in early childhood is especially consequential to outcomes in adolescence and • early adulthood.<sup>2</sup> One study found that children living in poverty as infants and toddlers were approximately 30% less likely to complete high school than children who first experience it later in childhood.<sup>3</sup> In another, children who experienced poverty between birth and age 5 were found to have markedly lower adult earnings and work hours.<sup>4</sup>
- Chronic poverty is more detrimental to children's long-term outcomes than short periods of family poverty, because when families are poor over longer periods, challenges relating to material hardships and psychological stress mount and persist.<sup>5</sup>
- Children in families experiencing multiple dimensions of poverty (including deep



poverty, the duration of poverty "spells," and income volatility) are likely to experience negative effects on their socioemotional functioning in adolescence.<sup>6</sup>

• The negative effects of poverty are worse for children living in neighborhoods with higher proportions of low-income households, and even extend to children in non-poor families in these neighborhoods.<sup>7,8,9</sup>

# Methods

This report presents results of analyses based on both administrative and simulated data to estimate benefit cliffs currently affecting Kentucky families in all 120 counties while accounting for local variations in expenses, including healthcare, food, childcare, and utilities.

In order to identify and measure benefit cliffs, simulated data modeled \$1,000 increases in household income using KYSTATS' Family Resource Simulator (FRS). The FRS produces estimates of families' net resources across changes in earnings while accounting for benefit access under Kentucky eligibility guidelines, federal and state tax credits, county-level costs of goods, and current tax rates. Analyses of households featured six different family types: single-parent and two-parent households with either one, two or three children. For each of these family types and at each income point, family expenses, taxes, and tax credits in each county were assessed against earnings to provide net resources at each level, from \$1,000 to an upper income limit in a range from \$80,000 through \$123,000, depending on family size. In this framework, a cliff occurred whenever the additional \$1,000 in incremental earnings resulted in greater than \$1,000 in costs because of either a loss of one or more public benefits, a decline in the value of a public benefit, an increase in family expenses, or, most likely, a combination of these three.

NCCP staff relied on state government partners at the Kentucky Center for Statistics (KYSTATS) and the Cabinet for Health and Family Services (CHFS) for administrative data on program participation and collaborative insights, as well as American Community Survey (ACS) data and other administrative data to support the modeling of individual and aggregate impacts.

See Appendix A for additional information on methods, including the operations and assumptions of the <u>Family Resource Simulator</u>.



# Results

Results of this work demonstrate which benefit cliffs currently challenge families at different income levels and what the financial impacts of those cliffs are for both families and communities. Potential financial impacts of those cliffs were estimated under scenarios in which families "power through" them by taking on additional work or avoid them by "parking their wages."

## **Benefit Cliffs Affecting Kentucky Families**

After legislative changes to benefit guidelines that went into effect in March, 2023, Kentucky families could still encounter benefit cliffs, resulting in a decrease of net resources at these income levels:

- Adult Medicaid at 138% FPL (\$34,000 for a family of three)
- SNAP (food stamps) at or near 200% FPL (\$46,000 for a family of three)
- KCHIP (a special Medicaid program for children) at 218% FPL (\$54,000 for a family of three)
- CCAP (subsidized childcare) at 85% SMI (\$56,000 for a family of three)

While many families receive benefits from these programs, most recipients earn incomes that continue to fall well below the exit threshold outlined above. Data provided by the Cabinet of Health and Family Services enabled an estimation of how many families were currently enrolled as well as how many are at high risk, given their family size and current earnings in relation to the eligibility guidelines for each program, of encountering these cliffs in the coming 18-24 months. Estimates are provided in table I-1.

Medicaid and KCHIPAdults 138% FPL196,000 (adult and clChildren 218% FPL59,400 (KCHIP)SNAP200% FPL200% FPL128,700CCAP128,700	hild Medicaid) 19,600 (Medicaid) 7,130 (KCHIP)
Children 218% FPL 59,400 (KCHIP)   SNAP 200% FPL 128,700	,
SNAP 128,700	7,130 (KCHIP)
200% FPL 128,700	
CCAP	6,012
85% SMI <sup>b</sup> 20,600	3,349
<sup>a</sup> See Appendices C, D, and E for data used in analysis of nu	mber of enrolled families and those nearing cliffs.
<sup>b</sup> State Median Income (SMI) thresholds are calculated usir	ng income distributions in the Commonwealth only
They do not convert to Federal Poverty Line (FPL) threshol	-

thresholds. Here, the 85% SMI threshold for a family of three in Kentucky is currently set at \$56,000.

By far the greatest number of families facing cliffs are those participating in Medicaid for adults, and it is concerning that this will occur at a relatively low level of income for such households, at just 138% FPL (or \$34,307 for a family of three). It is important to remember that while the smallest number of families facing a particular cliff are those who may lose CCAP, this cliff is the steepest, representing the largest drop in net resources for families who may choose to "power through" them rather than avoiding them. Estimated impacts, discussed below, point to a significant total loss in net resources for fewer than 3,500 families.



NCCP National Center for Children in Poverty Bank Street Graduate School of Education

## **Estimated Impacts of Benefit Cliffs**

Table I-2 below provides aggregate first-year impacts of benefit cliffs in the case that all families choose either to "power through the cliffs" (A) or avoid the cliffs by "parking their wages (B). These estimated impacts are based on the numbers and sizes of families enrolled in programs at high risk of facing cliffs and family income relative to income eligibility thresholds for each program.

Table I-2: Aggregate Impacts of Benefit Cliffs for Families Approaching Cliffs			
	A. Families "power through" cliffs: Loss	B. Families avoid cliffs by "parking	
Benefit Cliff	in aggregate net resources	wages": Loss in aggregate earnings	
Medicaid for adults	-\$45,142,720	-\$29,400,000	
SNAP	-\$5,176,147	-\$9,016,500	
KCHIP	-\$13,990,186	-\$10,695,300	
CCAP	-\$23,277,170	-\$5,023,500	

As shown in Table 1-2, if all families who are at risk of facing cliffs in the coming 18-24 months were to decide to "power through" them, thereby losing benefits and experiencing significant, immediate declines in their net resources (A), the resulting aggregate losses for all programs would exceed \$87.5 million; more than half of that (-\$45.1 million) results from the loss of Medicaid for adults. While it is unlikely that all families would decide to power through the cliffs by earning additional income, these estimates highlight that the losses such families experience by committing to full workforce participation have significant consequences for them and their communities. At least in the short-term and possibly for years to come, these families will have significantly less income to spend in support of local businesses and industry (in the construction of new homes, as an example).

Column (B) in Table 1-2 provides estimates of lost income if all families facing cliffs decided to avoid them by not taking on new jobs or working additional hours, totaling more than \$54 million. In the short-term, these lost earnings would be offset for the individual families by the value of benefits retained through avoiding the cliffs. However, parents can remain "trapped" in lower-paying positions for several years; the estimates in (B) are provided as signals of the consequent long-term losses, through disrupted career trajectories that such parents experience. Parents who lose wages by avoiding cliffs will likely experience diminished earnings across their lifespan, ultimately costing themselves (and their communities) far larger sums than those presented here. There are also related social costs in lost tax revenues resulting from cliff avoidance, not quantified here, but likely significant.

# **Key recommendations**

Key policy considerations emerging from this analysis seek to address benefit cliffs that disrupt the ability of Kentucky's parents to maximize their work participation and earnings in order to improve their long-term economic prospects. As part of this work, we considered recommendations for policy changes that could entail any or all of the following: changes to the State Block Grant, Kentucky's regulatory structure of benefits, Kentucky's statutory structure for



benefits programs, or federal policy recommendations that could be integral to the proposed recommended state policy.

The following are the key recommendations that emerged from the results and available opportunities for policy change in Kentucky:

- 1) Require lower copayment amounts for low-income families using subsidized childcare. We recommend that families with extremely low income are charged no copayments. While currently in some counties certain families can spend as much as 15% of their income on copayments at just 120% FPL, we recommend that copayments would start at no more than 3% of earnings when families' income reaches \$17,000 and gradually increase to no more than 7% of earnings when families' earnings reach 85% of the state median income (SMI), which is the current exit threshold for subsidized care. This would align with a proposed rule change by the federal Department of Health and Human Services<sup>10</sup> and help address SNAP cliffs. In particular, this would prevent families who need full-time care from encountering a benefit cliff as soon as they earn \$17,000. (For more on these guidelines and the percentages of earnings families pay under current copayment schedules, see Appendix G.)
- 2) Extend the exit income threshold to 125% SMI. Moving the exit threshold to a higher income level means that when parents lose access to child care assistance, they will have more income to cover the very high costs of private care.
- 3) Between 85% SMI and the new exit threshold (125% SMI), the state should require subsidy copayments that steeply increase as parents' earnings grow, coming close to the cost of private care just as families reach the exit threshold. Implementing the second recommendation on its own would just shift the cliff up to a higher income level. Increasing copayments steeply will mitigate the benefit cliffs, support families in becoming independent, and enable parents to share responsibility for subsidized care with the state government, thereby limiting the investment level needed by the state.
- 4) Conduct a strong campaign to inform low-income families about the importance and benefits of enrollment in premium silver-level Qualified Health Plans (QHPs), which effectively reduce premiums to \$0 for families with incomes under 150% FPL. This is needed, given currently low enrollment rates in the QHPs. A recent estimate provided by CHFS indicated that just 16% of those individuals transitioning from Medicaid enrolled in QHPs<sup>11</sup> It is important to encourage those families losing Medicaid for adults at just 138% FPL to transition quickly to a plan that will, until they earn 150% FPL, require no contributions toward policy premiums and provide coverage featuring very low deductibles for needed care. For those earning between 150% and 200%FPL, the expected contribution is between 0-2% of family earnings; between 200% and 250%FPL, it is between 2-4%; and between 250% and 300% FPL, it is between 4-6%. Investment in an enrollment campaign would serve to actively implement a solution Kentucky is already providing to ensure that families can access medical care at reasonable cost. It could involve community outreach, enrollment assistance to individuals, and health education.
- 5) Adopt a state-funded Basic Health Program (BHP) as a transitional measure, enabling parents who rely on a network of trusted doctors through Medicaid to continue with those providers to access a "bridge insurance program" for adults earning from \$139%-200% FPL. This would afford lowincome families more time, as their earnings increase, to become informed about Qualified Health Programs. This is an especially important aim for parents since families will no longer be covered by KCHIP for their children at 218% FPL.



# **Section 1: Identifying Benefit Cliffs**

# What is a "benefit cliff"?

When a family loses eligibility for a benefit due to an increase in their earnings, and *when the loss of the benefit produces a monetary loss greater than the rise in income*, the loss is a "benefit cliff." Benefit cliffs can also be thought of as "marginal tax rates," since the family's financial status effectively declines with additional income and/or earnings.

Benefit cliffs can disrupt the normal matching process of employers and employees by creating rational short-term disincentives for individuals to seek better employment opportunities and higher wages<sup>12</sup>. Such disruptions limit economic activity and mobility, and sustain generational poverty; as an illustrative example, the short narrative below this illustration provides possible responses by an individual about to confront such the Adult Medicaid cliff:

## A simple example of a single benefit cliff in Kentucky:



As a young couple with a six-month-old daughter, Dave and Mary live in Hopkins County, where unemployment is relatively low. Mary is staying at home with their baby for now, and Dave works for the owner of a string of local gas stations and convenience stores. Both parents are proud of the steady increases in Dave's salary over the last several years, as he has taken on more and more responsibilities. Dave now earns more than \$29,000, and his



boss has hinted at a small cost of living raise in the coming months, along with a minor promotion.

These new parents have relied on several public benefits while getting their feet on the ground, including Medicaid as their health insurance. But the couple has recently learned that as soon as Dave earns slightly more, near \$30,000, they will both lose their eligibility for Medicaid for adults, resulting in a net annual loss in net resources of roughly \$3,400. The loss of this benefit will actually vary in the toll it takes on the family's finances depending on their next steps; if Dave joins his employer's health insurance plan, expensive premiums will be deducted from his pay, leading to the cliff illustrated here (\$3,400). Because this occurs at a relatively low-income level, these parents will go from having net resources (or expendable income) of \$3,763 when earning \$29,000 to just \$320 when earning just slightly more and being required to afford employer insurance.

Dilemma: Dave is considering his alternatives. His young family will not be able to recoup the same level of annual expendable income until he earns almost \$39,000, and he cannot imagine that an increase of that size will occur in the near future, much as his work is valued by his employer. He has diabetes, and does not want to be without health insurance for a single month. For now, Dave is committed to being the sole breadwinner in the family, since both he and Mary believe that it is best for their daughter to be at home with a parent while she is an infant. He does not want to turn down a pay increase or promotion. Finally, Dave also believes that they need the small amount of extra income (nearly \$4,000 in net resources) that he was making at \$30,000 in order to continue to build their life together through savings, so that simply "powering through" the cliff and taking the loss does not feel acceptable to him.

Other benefit cliffs affect Kentucky families of all types, with children of all ages, and across a wider income span than the one illustrated in this example. The loss of Medicaid for adults, however, poses a challenge for many families at a low earnings level. Further discussion of this cliff will follow in subsequent sections.

# Background

This section provides some context about Kentucky families' reliance on social benefit programs. It describes some shifts in unemployment since the pandemic as well as some indicators of recovery. It describes as well some of the variation in these elements across counties and regions and includes description of "underemployment," one of the most worrying consequences of benefit cliffs. Finally, it briefly outlines the ways in which this report will address each of these important topics.

## Kentucky families requiring benefit assistance

Most benefit programs that are likely to present cliffs for Kentucky families with children involve income threshold eligibilities near or below 200% FPL (currently set at \$60,000 for a family of four).<sup>13</sup> An estimate spanning the years from 2016-2020 indicates that during those years, approximately 44% of all Kentucky children lived in families earning below 200% FPL (currently set at \$60,000 for a family of four).<sup>14</sup>



NCCP National Center for Children in Poverty Bank Street Graduate School of Education

From 2016-2020 there were also broad differences across counties in the proportion of children living in families earning below 200% FPL. The highest proportion of low-income children during this time period was seen in Wolfe County, where almost three in four (74%) children were living below 200% FPL during the years documented, and the lowest proportion was in Oldham County, where just 15% of children were living below that income level. This report's analyses and recommendations have been conducted in consideration of these regional differences. Particularly since more than one in four Kentuckians (25.7%) live in one of the 55 counties that are considered part of Appalachia, it is important to consider the potential effects of benefit cliffs in this part of the state.

Because the Family Resource Simulator (FRS) that is used for analyses in this report provides estimation for families rather than for children, it is important to understand how many Kentucky families currently live either in or near poverty. Twelve-month ACS data for 2021 provides an estimate of almost 401,000 (±22,705) families with children lived in households earning less than 200% FPL for their family size, or about 44% of all families with children in the Commonwealth.

Of all of these Kentucky families with children earning below 200% FPL, data indicate that slightly more than half (51.3%) were living between the poverty line (at 100% FPL) and 200% FPL, with 48.7% families living below the poverty line (100% FPL). While it is important to consider families below the poverty line, families living *near* poverty are more likely to confront benefit cliffs in the near future. This suggests that these analyses center on approximately 22.6% of all Kentucky families.

Relevant detail on family structure for Kentucky families below the poverty line and those living near poverty is provided in Table 1. According to these data, almost two in three families (64.6%) living below the poverty line were single-parent households. Of families in the "near poverty" range, earning above the poverty level and under 200% FPL, a higher proportion (56.9%) were two-parent households. This suggests that when considering benefit cliffs, it is important to consider two-parent households as well as single-parent ones, even though it may be the case that most families receiving supports may have one parent.

### Table 1: Families Living In or Near Poverty by Family Structure and Income-to-Poverty Level<sup>15</sup>

	Families Under 100% FPL	Families Between 100% and 200% FPL	Total Families Under 200% FPL
Single-Parent	126,174	88,704	214,878
	64.6%	43.1%	53.6%
<b>T</b> . <b>D</b>	69,210	116,907	186,117
Two-Parent	35.4%	56.9%	46.4%
Single- and Two-	195,384	205,611	400,995
Parent Families	100%	100%	100%



# NCCP National Center for Children in Poverty Bank Street Graduate School of Education

Not all families who are *eligible* for benefit programs actually receive them. Estimated numbers of currently and recently participating families follow below, based on numbers of participating families in particular programs as supplied by the Cabinet for Health and Family Services (CHFS) or extrapolated from other sources.

Additionally, geographic variation in the concentration of low-income children and their families appears to continue into the present. Throughout this report, families from different counties will be showcased in illustrations and vignettes describing the effects of benefit cliffs on low-income parents and children.

## **Unemployment in Kentucky Through the Pandemic Recovery**

Kentucky's work participation, as in much of the rest of the nation, was gravely affected by the pandemic, with a near doubling of unemployment rates throughout the state beginning in April, 2020 leading into the next two years. However, there were important differences across regions and counties that preceded the event, illustrated in the graph below. Early effects of the pandemic on unemployment were strongest in Central Kentucky, where employment nearly doubled, while in Eastern Kentucky the degree of relative change was the lowest (at 54%) but the unemployment rate by late 2021 was the highest among regions, at 9.1%.<sup>16</sup>



The pandemic recovery after 2021 was unequal across areas in the state. Businesses in different industries returned to activity - and full hiring capacity - unevenly, and so unemployment rates across counties continued to vary widely. The December 2022 county-level figures ranged from 2.4% in Oldham and Woodford Counties to 8.8% in Elliott and 9.3% in Magoffin.

Unsurprisingly, these rates tend to correlate with the proportion of low-income families in these specific counties, and this relationship precedes the pandemic; Oldham's proportion of such families in the years spanning 2016-2020 was 15%, while Elliott's was 59% and Magoffin's was 66%.

By late 2022, the state's average unemployment rate had improved to 4%, in contrast to a higher rate 4.6% from one year earlier.<sup>17</sup> Four months later, in April, 2023, another measurement showed state-wide improvement, with a decrease of unemployment to 3.8%.<sup>18</sup> In another sign of



# NCCP National Center for Children in Poverty

recovery, among Kentucky parents, the rate of unemployment in 2022 decreased to just 3%, the same rate as before the pandemic in 2019:<sup>19</sup>



In parallel with the unevenness in employment recovery for all Kentuckians across regions, NCCP infers that parents have also experienced different degrees of recovery in their workforce participation according to where they live, so that the rates above must also vary by location.

That counties are experiencing different levels of challenge with workforce participation is not new. The simulated data providing the foundation of this report fortunately calibrate significant variation in living costs in different locations in the state; county-level food costs, as an example, feed the calculations of net resources and SNAP benefits for families in the data. Through examples of how benefit cliffs affect families across geographic regions in Kentucky, this report attempts to illustrate the effects in counties with different levels of challenge.

### **Potential Underemployment**

While unemployment is central to this report's purpose, so is the issue of *underemployment*. Underemployment describes circumstances in which workers are technically employed, but not for a full number of hours or at levels of compensation appropriate for their education level. In these situations, it can be difficult for employees to earn promotions and salary increases that will move their family out of poverty (and away from benefit receipt). In fact, extremely negative outcomes can result for individuals and their families from underemployment of parents.<sup>20</sup> If enough workers are underemployed, it can be highly detrimental to the local economy, preventing full productivity and growth for all.

Underemployment sometimes results from a lack of opportunities offered by local employers (particularly after a shock like the pandemic), but it can also stem from disincentives to workers. A benefit cliff can act as such a disincentive, particularly if the resulting loss of net resources is large enough to place a significant financial burden on families.

It is difficult, even impossible, to provide accurate estimation of underemployment and its role in Kentucky's economy today. However, an indicator involving a particular benefit that lowincome parents frequently rely upon in order to work may reveal something important that existed even before the pandemic: data from 2019 reveal that just 6.7% of eligible children and infants in Kentucky were in subsidized care slots, lower than the national average of 16% for that year.<sup>21,22</sup> Given extremely high costs of private, unsubsidized childcare and the difficulty for low-income parents in affording those costs, this suggests a significant degree of underemployment in families of young children. While parents may be relying on friends and



family to cover childcare for them in part-time positions, and two-parent households may freely elect certain trade-offs in terms of child-rearing roles and responsibilities, the low take-up rate for subsidized care suggests that there are barriers of various kinds that prevent full workforce participation for many households. This report explores benefit cliffs as barriers that can trap families in lower income levels, even in poverty, but recommendations also address Kentucky's childcare sector more generally.

## Early Phase of Research on Kentucky's Benefit Cliffs

The first set of benefit cliff analyses by NCCP relied on data that had been generated *before* the policy changes, legislated in 2022, that went into effect in early 2023.<sup>23</sup> Summary findings and materials from those analyses can be found in Appendix B.

Several changes were made, effective in March, 2023, to the administration of essential support programs for low-income families, including:

- an increase in the KTAP asset limit from \$2,000 to \$10,000;
- an increase in the KTAP Gross Income Limit (e.g., to \$1,315/month for a family of four); and
- an increase in the Standard of Need for KTAP income eligibility (e.g., to \$710/month for a family of four)<sup>24</sup>

Additionally, a shift in the initial eligibility, renewal, and exit income thresholds for subsidized childcare (or CCAP) from 200% FPL (\$60,000 for a four-person family) to 85% SMI (approximately \$67,000 for a four-person family) meant that, when losing subsidized childcare, families would have more disposable income to pay for private childcare at the higher income level.<sup>25</sup> Shifting the income limit for CCAP in this way also meant that parents did not lose the support of subsidized childcare at the same income level at which they lose SNAP benefits.

In mid-2023, personnel at KYSTATS re-developed the Family Economic Simulator (FES) to integrate reflect policies as implemented under the legislative changes. As a result of the policy changes made in 2022, benefit cliffs affect families quite differently. High level findings from the newer FRS include:

- Families with very low earnings do *not* experience benefit cliffs when losing cash assistance under the TANF, or KTAP program.
- The most significant benefit cliffs confronting Kentucky parents now result from losses of CCAP, Adult Medicaid, children's Medicaid (KCHIP), and SNAP.
- As before, cliffs vary in magnitude in relation to location (county), family structure, and changes in earnings.

Subsequent sections describe benefit cliffs, and the effects of the cliffs, as they operate under *current* legislation and program administration.



# **Analysis of Benefit Cliffs**

Nearly all of the benefit programs mentioned in this report are means-tested. As the income of program participants rises, benefits provided by these programs can either decline gradually (by "tapering" or "phasing out") or cease suddenly. As already noted, when families lose eligibility for a benefit due to an increase in earnings, and when the loss of the benefit results in a monetary loss greater than the rise in income, the occurrence is labeled a "benefit cliff."

Benefit cliffs do not necessarily occur whenever a family loses a benefit. It is possible that an increase in income, together with another input such as a tax credit, exceeds the loss of a benefit. There are interactions between benefit policies as well, so that an increase or decrease in one benefit could cause a change in another benefit's amount. There are myriad changes that continually affect families' net resources as parents earn additional income. This makes the KYSTATS Family Resource Simulator (FRS), developed in collaboration with NCCP, an essential tool in predicting and quantifying the cliffs at various income levels for families of different sizes.

### **Calculating Net Resources**

The benefits available to low-income families in Kentucky can affect both their expenses and resources. Certain benefits, such as TANF and SNAP, provide cash or cash-like assistance and are therefore included as resources in efforts to model family finances. Other benefits, such as childcare subsidies, housing subsidies, LIHEAP, and health insurance assistance programs (such as Medicaid or premium tax credits), reduce the family's overall expenses and therefore are modeled as reductions in expenses. A family's "net resources," or total resources minus total expenses, is the key parameter of interest when understanding the cliff effect. "Net resources" can also be thought of as a family's financial bottom line.

As previously mentioned, benefit cliffs sometimes disincentivize individuals from seeking better employment opportunities and higher wages, because of declines in net resources resulting from a too-sudden loss of benefits. This not only impacts those individuals and families facing these choices but also can lead to a less productive and inclusive economy, by reducing overall economic activity and trapping families in generational poverty. In the face of benefit cliffs, one of two unfortunate outcomes will occur in response to an opportunity to earn higher income:

- 1. The individual or family earns higher income, but because of the decrease in their net resources, is financially worse-off than before due to the reduction in benefits; or
- 2. The individual or family does not take the higher wage and therefore does not improve their economic position or earnings horizon, while their potential employer and the state economy forgo potential growth in activity. In cases, workers have even quit employment to avoid benefit cliffs.<sup>26</sup>

The Family Resource Simulator calculates a family's "net resources" by subtracting expenses for basic needs like rent, child care, food, and transportation from the family's income added to the



NCCP National Center for Children in Poverty Bank Street Graduate School of Education

value of their public benefits as well as any tax credits they receive. The basic formula for net resources follows:

### **Net Resources** = Resources - Expenses

Resources and Expenses include the following measures, most of which are continuously recalculated by the FRS as family earnings increase:

Resources =	Expenses =
Earnings +	Federal, State, and Local Income Taxes – nonrefundable Tax
Interest on Savings +	credits +
TANF Benefit +	Payroll taxes +
SNAP Benefit +	Sales taxes +
SSI Benefit +	Childcare costs – CCDF subsidies +
SSP Benefit +	Rent – Housing subsidies +
Child Support +	Utility costs – LIHEAP +
EITC +	Food costs – WIC – FSP benefits – Free/reduced price meals +
Refundable portion of	Transportation costs +
Child Tax Credit	Healthcare costs +
	Debt payments +
	Miscellaneous expenses

Calculating the "Net Resources" measure across incrementally increasing income levels enables identification of the levels at which benefit cliffs occur, whenever families' net resources are likely to decrease in spite of increased earnings.

NCCP's research team derived the formulas used in this analysis to calculate the estimations of family resources, expenses, and net resources through their experience developing and maintaining The Family Resource Simulator (FRS), an online tool originally developed by the Center in 2004 to model the progression of net resources and impact of benefit cliffs for one family at a time. By calculating net resources for families, the adaptation of the FRS model can calculate how close Kentucky families are to facing the various benefit cliffs in these programs and how severely these benefit cliffs may impact their finances. Moreover, this analysis can demonstrate the impact of specific benefit cliffs in the aggregate and compare the impacts that new policy rules may have on families in the future.

### The Current Trajectory of Economic Mobility for a Four-Person Family

Prior to full analysis of variation in cliffs by family type and geography or the aggregate impact of benefit cliffs, it is helpful to review the trajectory of an illustrative Kentucky family who would experience some abrupt declines in their net resources as their income rises under current legislative policy.



First, the Family Resource Simulator makes the following assumptions about this two-parent family with two-children in Jefferson County, as well as some assignments made with respect to this family:

- Before the parents in this family begin to participate in the labor force, FRS modeling assumes that since their income levels are very low, they receive benefits, including cash assistance (TANF), food stamps (SNAP), food assistance for very young children (WIC), Medicaid or KCHIP for all family members' health needs, and child care subsidies (CCDF), as we also assume they are in some form of education and/or job training.
- Additionally, within the FRS this family was randomly assigned participation in two widely-used federally subsidized programs, the Lifeline telephone program, which provides discounts on phone bills and internet provision for low-income families, and the Low-Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP), which provides assistance with energy costs.
- Similarly, the FRS model randomly assigns the family access to employer health insurance coverage when they reach the income level at which they no longer qualified for Medicaid.

The model employed in this study can measure both the distance from the resource level at which a family is able to pay for basic expenses (the "break-even" point at 0 on the y-axis), either positive or negative, as well as the impact of benefit cliffs on their ability to pay for such expenses. The simulator first estimates net resources for this family at \$0 earnings, and then models successive scenarios in which their earnings increase by a constant increment (\$1,000 annually) along the x-axis, as presented on the following page.



The following graph presents net resources across income amounts for a two-parent household with two young children, a two-year-old and a child in early elementary school, living in Jefferson County. Note that benefit cliffs result from the interplay of factors, including increasing expenses, declining benefits, declining tax credits, and increasing payroll and other taxes in response to higher income:



Example: Jefferson County two-parent household with two children.

- 1. At very low levels of income, the benefits that this family receives contribute to their wellbeing. Nonetheless, the FRS estimates that, with earnings under \$15,000, the families' net resources are still insufficient to cover basic needs. The family's net resources are negative at \$0 earnings, approximately \$15,000 below the "break-even" point represented by the red line. As parents earn more, the net resources increase. The family "breaks even," with increasing positive net resources, once the parents earn approximately \$15,000 per year.
- 2. When they earn \$17,000 in annual income, this family begins to pay copayments for subsidized childcare. Parents who need full-time child care to support work activities at this earnings level will encounter a benefit cliff that depresses net resources below \$0 again. Their net resources are not positive (i.e., the family does not "break even") again until parents earn \$19,000.
- 3. As family earnings increase further, their net resources will continue to increase. When earning roughly \$35,000, the family has net resources over \$5,000 in excess of the "break even" point, so that they can do more than just cover their basic needs. They can purchase consumer goods, invest, or save.
- 4. However, once the parents earn \$36,000, the family experiences significant a benefit cliff mostly from the loss of adult Medicaid. As a result, their healthcare expenses increase significantly. While their net resources remain above the "break-even" point, they decrease to \$1,732 annually, almost \$3,500 *less* than they the family had when earning \$1,000 less.
- 5. As family earnings increase from \$37,000 to \$57,000, net resource gains remain modest. While net resources do not decline in this range, they increase at an average of only \$195 per

NCCP National Center for Children in Poverty



every \$1,000 in annual wages. This results from declining SNAP benefits, declining EITC amounts, and increased payroll and income taxes.

- 6. At roughly \$56,000 income, the family loses SNAP, an annual benefit of \$1,259. The loss in resources is -\$555, as the family is also experiencing increases in taxes.
- 7. When the parents earn approximately \$57,000, they experience larger benefit cliff of almost \$1290 resulting mostly from the loss of KCHIP, or Medicaid for their two children. Nonetheless, such a family at this point can claim annual net resources of more than \$6,000, so that they remain above the break-even line and continue to have expendable income.
- 8. However, the largest benefit cliff occurs when the family earns roughly \$67,000, and it results almost entirely from the loss of subsidized childcare through the CCAP program. For this family, the high cost of private childcare in Jefferson County means that they face an estimated change in net resources of more than -\$14,000 annually, so that their net resources plummet below the break-even line, to approximately -\$1,330 from roughly \$13,000 at the \$66,000 income level. The barrier to engagement with work that this type of benefit cliff can pose for working parents is a key priority in this report.

The next section provides more background on rules governing who can receive benefits and presents estimates of how many families in Kentucky are currently receiving them.



## Summaries of social programs most likely to cause current benefit cliffs

Each program that is likely to result in a significant benefit cliff as families increase their income is a federal program, so that guidelines determining the income limits and other characteristics of those who may receive benefits and how much they receive follow certain regulations established by federal laws and agencies.

However, there are some rules that states are enabled to set locally, and these aspects of the benefit receipt can also be changed by State leaders and legislators. (Recommendations in this report distinguish between changes that could be made by the State from those that would need to be addressed by federal rule-making.)

### Child Care Assistance Program (CCAP) or "childcare subsidies"

The Child Care Development Fund (CCDF) is a federal-state program that enables states to administer subsidized childcare for low-income families using federal money. While subject to federal requirements and guidelines, states determine:

- Copayment schedules listing what parents with different family sizes and at different income levels must pay per day of childcare;
- The rate at which childcare providers are reimbursed for each subsidized childcare "slot," based on a market rate survey of local providers that is conducted approximately every three years;
- Requirements relating to care quality, including the skills and qualifications of the teacher workforce;
- The best means of educating parents to select child care that meets their families' needs.

The Child Care Assistance Program (CCAP) is Kentucky's agency for administering subsidized care. It has already been illustrated that childcare cliffs are the largest benefit cliff facing many Kentucky families today, and this is true even after 2022 legislation that extended eligibility to families earning 85% of the state median income (SMI) (roughly \$67,000 for a family of four in 2023).<sup>27</sup> Eligibility had previously been set in Kentucky at 200% FPL (or \$60,000 for a family of four).

This report has previously noted an estimate, based on ACS data, suggesting that just 6.7% of eligible children in the state received subsidized care in 2019. Those were children in families living under 200% FPL, since that was the income threshold at that time, and estimates using the same data source show a general decline since that time; for the last year in which an estimate was obtainable, in 2022, results suggest that just 5% of all children aged 0-13 living under 200% FPL were in subsidized care in Kentucky. However, since the threshold was extended effective in March, 2023, eligibility has expanded. Additionally, this report's focus is on numbers of families rather than numbers of children, since because of how benefits are regulated, the economic unit of interest in FRS data is the family.

At least by one estimate,<sup>28</sup> Kentucky experienced a steep decline in children enrolled in subsidized care during and after the pandemic, from 30,000 to 17,000. While full recovery is still underway, there has been growth in such numbers. A recent update from the Cabinet for Health



NCCP National Center for Children in Poverty Bank Street Graduate School of Education

and Family Services (CHFS), more than 20,600 families received subsidies through the Program (CCAP) in 2023, with more than 34,900 children served.



#### An example of the childcare cliff in Kentucky

Douglas is a first-year teacher in Jefferson County, where he earns \$47,000 a year in the public school system there. His wife, Helen, has mostly stayed at home with their three- and four-year-old sons, but thanks to subsidized care vouchers, she has recently been able to return to working a few hours per week as a receptionist at a dentist's office. Doing this means she earns an extra \$1000/month, bringing the family's total income to about \$59,000. Helen enjoys the work and feels that their boys are getting high-quality care and learning from being around other children.

The dental practice would like Helen to work more hours and has offered her almost \$20,000 per year if she will work a nearly full-time schedule. She and Douglas have begun saving to buy a home, so she would like to accept this offer. However, the family learns that once they earn \$67,000 in combined annual income, they will no longer qualify for subsidized care. To take the job, she would need to place both children in a full-time private childcare setting, at approximately \$19,610 annually. This means that the family would experience a significant decline in their net resources, which would shift downward from the \$7,750 annually to a negative -1,330. The gain from Helen's additional commitment to work would be completely absorbed in the childcare expense, and the family would actually experience a shortfall until earning considerably more. These parents would not have net resources of more than \$7,000 again unless they earned at least \$79,000 together.

*Dilemma:* Douglas and Helen realize that the cost of childcare is especially high in Jefferson County, but they want to remain near their families. It does not make sense to them for Helen to take the additional hours, but she realizes that she may lose her position entirely if the dental practice finds someone else who can put in the extra hours.



Still, Douglas and Helen decide that for now, she will not work the extra hours, so that they can continue to build their savings for a house. In a few years, when both boys are in school, they will re-assess their situation, but for now the benefit cliff (along with the high cost of private childcare) is a barrier to full work participation for Helen and will push home ownership further into their future.

### Which Kentucky families rely on subsidized care through CCAP today?

The Cabinet for Health and Family Services (CHFS) provided data documenting that more than 20,600 Kentucky families recently received subsidized care for their families. Of these families, 84.6% were single-parent families and approximately 15.1% were two-parent families. Some children served by the program evidently lived in group settings. Information on the size of families and monthly income amounts demonstrated that most families enrolled in subsidized care reported incomes well below the exit eligibility threshold.<sup>29</sup>

### How many Kentucky families may be approaching the childcare cliff?

The administrative data on recipient families' household size and income was used to identify: a) single-parent households with reported incomes at 75% and above of the 85% SMI income level for their family size; and b) two-parent households with reported incomes at 50% and above of the 85% SMI threshold for their family size. It is estimated that these families could face the childcare cliff within the next 18-24 months.

These estimates suggest that roughly one in six (16.3%) of the more than 20,600 families currently receiving subsidized care are potentially at risk of encountering the benefit cliff from the loss of this support in the coming two years. Table 2 provides a breakdown of recipient families by family type, and for each type presents the number of families facing cliffs. These estimates suggest that approximately 9.8% of the single-parent families and 50.4% of the twoparent families in administrative data provided by CHFS may be approaching the CCAP cliff:

Family type	Children enrolled in care	Families facing cliffs
Single-parent	1	996
Single-parent	2	598
Single-parent	3	94
Single parent	4 or more	11
Two-parent	1	962
Two-parent	2	482
Two-parent	3	174
Two-parent	4	32
Total families		3,349

### Table 2: Families approaching childcare cliffs

Additional considerations: A recent report based on data provided by the Kentucky Center for Statistics estimates that there are as many as 26,000 children currently receiving subsidized care in Kentucky. Since more than 125,000 Kentuckian children are five years of age and under living


in very low-income households (<100% FPL)<sup>30</sup>, this suggests that many low-income parents may be underemployed and/or struggling with childcare arrangements. Additionally, any state's system of subsidized care has capacity constraints. Many low-income parents are likely perhaps even facing the daunting "cliffs" that families losing subsidized care face without even having received the CCAP benefit. Given the enormity of this loss to Kentucky's workforce and economy as well as to such families' well-being, recommendations will address the childcare sector more generally as well as offering suggestions for subsidized care administration that would mitigate cliffs.

#### Medicaid/KCHIP Programs

Medicaid is a federal and state program that helps with medical costs for people with limited income and resources. The Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) provides health coverage to eligible children in low-income families, through both Medicaid and separate, stateoperated CHIP programs. As in most states that have expanded Medicaid eligibility, Kentucky parents face separate income eligibility limits regarding Medicaid insurance for themselves and their children. Specifically, the limits are: a) the adult Medicaid exit threshold at 138% FPL; b) higher exit thresholds for children, specifically 200% FPL for children under 1, and 147% FPL for children older than 1 and younger than 19.

In Kentucky, KCHIP is a program providing children with managed care and administered by the Commonwealth, according to certain federal requirements, and funded jointly by states and the federal government. This program is for families that do not qualify for Medicaid, and its exit threshold is 218% FPL.

The FRS assumes that adults lose Medicaid coverage at 138% FPL and that children lose coverage at 218% FPL. Importantly, qualifying adults and children are entitled to be insured through Medicaid and CHIP even if they have access to employer-sponsored health insurance. When parents or children lose eligibility for Medicaid, the FRS model assumes that they will then purchase insurance from their employer, although this report will include discussion of plans from Kentucky's healthcare marketplace.

On pages 11 and 12, a diagram and accompanying vignette illustrate the loss of adult Medicaid in one family, occurring as soon as they earn 138% FPL, or about \$34,000 for a family of three. The following example illustrates the loss of KCHIP at a higher earnings level, 218% FPL, or \$54,000 for a family of three.





#### An example of the KCHIP cliff compounded by the childcare cliff in Kentucky:

Phyllis works as a registered nurse in Harlan County, earning almost \$25 per hour. A single mother of two young children, Phyllis has steadily worked to meet their needs and plan for the future. Because of the relatively low cost of living in Harlan County, at her current rate of income (just over \$52,000 with occasional extra shifts), she and her family currently enjoy annual net resources of more than \$17,000. With that money, she is saving for a home and for her children's education.

Phyllis' employer has encouraged her to apply for a supervisory position, which the county badly needs to fill. Phyllis knows that she would be well-suited to the role and would earn more in it. However, when Phyllis earns approximately \$54,000, she will see a decline of more than \$3,000 in net resources from the loss of her children's coverage on KCHIP, because she will have to pay more for her employer's healthcare plan once her children are covered on it. Once she earns slightly more, just \$56,000, she will lose access to subsidized care for her children. At that point, she will immediately need to begin paying for private childcare out of her savings, and her net resources will decline to less than \$8,000. She will not recover from the loss to her net resources (and her ability to save) until she earns \$66,000.

Dilemma: Phyllis wants to continue working hard for her family, but in this case, she will effectively earn less money if she is promoted. She considers whether she might cut back on her hours instead of moving forward with the promotion. She decides to move forward, in the hope that she can earn more in the coming years, but this setback will mean she has less



disposable income at least in the short-term. For now, she will be able to save less money for a home or her children's educational needs.

#### Which Kentucky families rely on Medicaid and KCHIP for health insurance today?

Administrative data provided by the Cabinet for Health and Family Services on Medicaid recipients including the size and ratio of income-to-poverty of households suggests the following numbers of households are relying on Medicaid and KCHIP for health insurance today:

- approximately 196,000 families with children earning incomes under 138% FPL, • providing both adults and children with support for medical costs; and
- an additional 59,400 families with children earning between 138% and 218% FPL, so that they benefit from KCHIP.

From other information on the proportion of single-parent and two-parent families at different income levels in Kentucky (see Table 1), these data suggest that:

- approximately 113,700 families of those earning under 138% FPL are single-parent families, and 82,300 are two-parent families; and
- approximately 25,500 families of those earning between 138% FPL and 218% are singleparent families, and 33,900 are two-parent families.

#### How many Kentucky families may be approaching the Medicaid and KCHIP cliffs?

Although the data provided on participating families did not include specific earnings information (only income-to-poverty benchmarks) or reliable family size indicators, this report estimates that within the next 18-24 months:

- the benefit cliff for Adult Medicaid may confront approximately 10% of those families currently receiving the benefit, or 19,600 families, and approximately 10,780 of those will be single-parent families; and
- the benefit cliff for KCHIP may confront approximately 12% of those families currently receiving the benefit, or roughly 7,130 families, and approximately 4,280 of those will be two-parent families.

Table 3 outlines these estimates below:

#### Table 3: Estimated number of families approaching Medicaid and KCHIP cliffs

Family type	Adult Medicaid cliff	KCHIP cliff
Single-parent	10,780	2,850
Two-parent	8,820	4,280
Total families	19,600	7,130



#### SNAP, or the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program

The SNAP program provides federal funding to support the nutritional needs of low-income individuals and families. Federal guidelines for eligibility require that participating households meet an asset test, a gross income test, and a net income test, although Kentucky uses a state policy "flexibility" to release recipients from undergoing an asset test. Based on family size, many low-income Kentucky families receive nutritional support valued at many thousands of dollars each year. As of February, 2023, wage-earning Kentuckians participating in SNAP most commonly worked in low-paying jobs, with 29.2% of individual recipients working in "service" jobs as cooks or home health care aides, 12.4% in office support jobs (e.g., customer service representatives), and 12.1% in sales-related positions, working as cashiers or retail sales representatives.

For many parents and children in Kentucky, SNAP benefits are a significant income support. In 2022, SNAP supported the nutritional requirements of over 395,000 parents and children in Kentucky in that year with an average monthly benefit of \$392.<sup>31</sup>

SNAP benefits are designed to taper or decrease as recipients earn more. However, even though the benefit amounts decrease, as earnings increase, the final loss of the benefit can present a considerable cliff, particularly for larger households, families with high childcare costs or members who are disabled. Fortunately, states have an important lever for limiting SNAP benefit cliffs. Kentucky is one of forty-four states that have adopted Broad-Based Categorical Eligibility (BBCE), and such states may adjust some federal guidelines, including the gross income eligibility of participants<sup>32</sup>. The federal guideline is 130% FPL, but Kentucky has extended that limit to 200% FPL. This provides nutritional support for families at a higher income level, obviously, but it also means that, according to the formula determining benefit calculations, the amount of the benefit "phases out" over a greater span of earned income, tapering to a much lower amount before the participating household loses access to SNAP entirely.

This policy lever does not entirely eliminate cliffs for families, but it does soften them. Since Kentucky has a net income limit for SNAP at 100% FPL, households can only claim these benefits if net income is at or below 100% FPL. Kentucky's gross income limit for SNAP is 200%, but that if the expenses a family deducts from gross income based on SNAP rules do not lower the net income limit below 100% FPL, they may face the benefit cliff at a lower level of gross income.

Large SNAP benefit cliffs exist primarily among only two groups: a) families with very high child or dependent care costs; and families that include household members with disabilities. Such large cliffs result from the deductions from gross income that families can make through the uncapped dependent care deduction, which covers child care costs, and a shelter deduction that is not capped among households that include people with disabilities. Because these expenses can amount to thousands of dollars in reduced income, and therefore significant increases in SNAP benefits, the loss of SNAP benefits at 200% FPL can be dramatic for these groups.

Although SNAP cliffs for Kentucky families exist, the FRS data were generated under an assumption that families were using subsidized childcare until earning an income equivalent to



85% SMI for their family type, which would limit childcare costs to copayments (in contrast to the costs of private childcare providers) up to and beyond the 200% FPL at which SNAP benefits are lost; this in turn limits the calculated SNAP benefit for these families, mitigating these cliffs. The current simulation also assumes that families do not include members who are disabled, which means that deductions from shelter costs are limited<sup>33</sup> under federal guidelines.

Another important aspect of analyses of the SNAP cliff facing families is that, because this benefit is calculated using local costs of food and other goods including childcare, income at 200% FPL is not uniform as the point at which families in different counties will experience the cliff, and the size of this cliff can vary accordingly as well.

#### Which Kentucky families participate in the SNAP program today?

Kentucky's Cabinet for Family and Health Services (CHFS) provided administrative data on families receiving SNAP in 2022, the most recent year in which such data were widely available. During that year, more than 128,700 families received SNAP benefits. Of those, 79% were single-parent families and 21% were two-parent families. During that year, not all families who received SNAP were employed.

About 82,400 of the families (62%) were earning wages. Because parents who are not in work do not face benefit cliffs, discussion of the effects of SNAP cliffs that follows is restricted to just this subset of family households. See Appendix E for more information on participating families' wages.

#### How many Kentucky families may be approaching the SNAP cliff?

According to analysis of pre-pandemic SNAP participation in Kentucky, only 10% of participants had incomes above 100% FPL; although that proportion may be slightly higher among families, it may be lower particularly among single-parent earners juggling caring for families with employment opportunities. In addition, Appendix E demonstrates that median incomes for all family types were well below the potential cliffs at 200% FPL. It is estimated here that as many as 5% of the single-parent families receiving SNAP, and 15% of two-parent families, may be likely to approach a SNAP cliff in the coming 18-24 months.

#### **Table 4: Families approaching SNAP cliffs**

Family type	Families facing cliffs
Single-parent, one child	1,331
Single-parent, two children	1,166
Single-parent, three children	677
Two-parent, one child	817
Two-parent, two children	1,108
Two-parent, three children	912
Total families	6,012



# WIC, or the Special Supplemental Program for Women, Infants, and Children Nutrition Program

For pregnant or breastfeeding women and children up to age five who are at nutritional risk, WIC provides vouchers for specific types of foods—such as whole-grain bread, baby food, infant formula, and milk—as well as separate "cash value vouchers" that participants can use to buy fruits and vegetables. WIC also provides infant formula to mothers who do not breastfeed. This benefit is calculated by the FRS as an annual reduction in food costs of nearly \$500 for those families who qualify. Households that already receives SNAP, Medicaid, or Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) cash assistance are categorically eligible for WIC. Households that do not receive benefits from these programs must have gross income under 185% FPL.

Under the assumptions of the FRS, the benefit level of WIC is capped at under \$500 so that the loss of this benefit does not by itself constitute a cliff since it is less than the \$1,000 income increments that drive the calculation process of simulating cliffs.



#### Overview of benefit cliffs by family type in Kentucky

The magnitude of benefit cliffs varies by family structure because eligibility guidelines for benefits vary according to family size. Also, when families lose certain goods and services once they earn enough to lose benefits, their costs of paying privately for those goods and services are generally higher if they have more children. This section provides an overview of cliffs by family type, providing average amounts of each cliff across all counties.

The magnitude of cliffs also varies by the county in which the family lives, because the costs of goods and services, most notably childcare, vary across counties. Later sections provide insights into variation across counties by comparing cliffs for similar families across counties.



#### Average two-parent families' benefit cliffs:

For two-parent families with one child, the largest cliff in magnitude results from the loss of CCAP, at 85% of the state median income (SMI) or roughly \$56,000 (for a family of three). While the average decline in net resources is \$3,875, the size of this cliff varies greatly across counties because the costs of private childcare vary. For this type of family, the benefit cliff from the loss of subsidized childcare ranges from -\$2,367 to -\$7,579.

The magnitude or amount of benefit cliffs for the other policies vary by very small amounts across counties, with the maximum and minimum amounts less than \$100 apart.





For two-parent families with two children, the largest cliff in magnitude results from the loss of CCAP, at 85% of the state median income (SMI) or roughly \$67,000 (for a family of four). While the average amount of decline is resources is \$9,520, the size of this cliff varies greatly across counties because the costs of private childcare vary. For this type of family, the benefit cliff from the loss of subsidized childcare ranges from -\$7,314 to -\$14,267.

The magnitude or amount of benefit cliffs for the other policies vary by very small amounts across counties for two-parent families with two children, with the maximum and minimum amounts less than \$200 apart.





For two-parent families with three children, the largest cliff in magnitude results from the loss of CCAP, at 85% of the state median income (SMI) or roughly \$77,000 (for a family of five). While the average amount of decline is resources is \$14,476, the size of this cliff varies greatly across counties because the costs of private childcare vary. For this type of family, the benefit cliff from the loss of subsidized childcare ranges from -\$11,532 to -\$20,287.

The magnitude or amount of benefit cliffs for the other policies vary by relatively small amounts across counties, with the maximum and minimum amounts less than \$100 apart.



#### Average single-parent families' benefit cliffs:



For single-parent families with one child, the loss of adult Medicaid results in a smaller average cliff than it does for two-parent families, at -\$1,324. As for all families, the largest cliff in magnitude results from the loss of CCAP, at 85% of the state median income (SMI) or roughly \$45,000 (for a family of two). While the average amount of decline is resources is \$4,135, the size of this cliff varies greatly across counties because the costs of private childcare vary. For this type of family, the benefit cliff from the loss of subsidized childcare ranges from -\$2,627 to -\$7,839.

The magnitude or amount of benefit cliffs for the other policies vary by relatively small amounts across counties, with the maximum and minimum amounts less than \$100 apart.





For single-parent families with two children, the loss of adult Medicaid results in a smaller average cliff than it does for two-parent families, at -\$1,114. As for all families, the largest cliff in magnitude results from the loss of CCAP, at 85% of the state median income (SMI) or roughly \$56,000 (for a family of two). While the average amount of decline is resources is \$9,920, the size of this cliff varies greatly across counties because the costs of private childcare vary. For this type of family, the benefit cliff from the loss of subsidized childcare ranges from -\$7,714 to -\$14,663.

The magnitude or amount of benefit cliffs for the other policies vary by relatively small amounts across counties, with the maximum and minimum amounts less than \$100 apart.





For single-parent families with three children, the loss of adult Medicaid results in a smaller average cliff than it does for two-parent families, at -\$1,378. As for all families, the largest cliff in magnitude results from the loss of CCAP, at 85% of the state median income (SMI) or roughly \$67,000 (for a family of two). While the average amount of decline is resources is \$16,344, the size of this cliff varies greatly across counties because the costs of private childcare vary. For this type of family, the benefit cliff from the loss of subsidized childcare ranges from -\$13,430 to -\$22,362.

The magnitude or amount of benefit cliffs for the other policies vary by relatively small amounts across counties, with the maximum and minimum amounts less than \$100 apart.

#### Summary of Families Potentially Affected by Benefit Cliffs

The FRS, by simulating increases in income for families of different sizes and structures across all 120 Kentucky counties, substantiates the size of benefit cliffs that families of different sizes and in different counties experience at different income levels. This involved over 79,320 iterations of \$1000 increases, resulting in more than 6,000 benefit cliffs, as simulator families encountered multiple cliffs at different income levels. More than half of these cliffs were less than \$1,000. For a summary of the sizes of simulated cliff, see Appendix F.

Administrative data on Kentucky families participating in the Medicaid, SNAP, KCHIP, and CCAP programs support estimation of how many actual families, given their size, structure, and income level (where available), are likely to face cliffs during the next 12-18 months. Several factors were important in predicting whether families are likely to face a cliff, including family structure. Generally, it was assumed that two-parent families are more likely, in cases, to consider adding a second earner, and thereby experience a large increase in household income,



NCCP National Center for Children in Poverty

while single parents are more likely to extend work hours or receive a salary raise. Additionally, families' current reported income level was an important factor; in most cases, as described above, if families' earnings were within a certain benchmark level of the income level at which Medicaid, KCHIP, or CCAP would be lost, these were also families who could face a benefit cliff.

Program/ Category	Enrolled Families	Enrolled Families Nearing Cliffs	Cliffs	Nature of Cliff
Child Care	20,600	3,349ª	85% SMI <sup>b</sup>	Loss of benefit followed by increased costs for private childcare
Medicaid	196,000 (adult and child Medicaid)+ 59,400 (KCHIP)	19,600 (Medicaid) <sup>c</sup> 7,130 (KCHIP)	Adults 138% FPL Children 218% FPL	Loss of benefit followed by increase in medical costs
SNAP	128,700	6,012 <sup>d</sup>	200% FPL	Gradual decline of benefit, then complete loss
<sup>a</sup> See Appendi	x C for details.			

<sup>b</sup> State Median Income (SMI) thresholds are calculated using income distributions in the Commonwealth only. They do not convert to Federal Poverty Line (FPL) thresholds since they vary by family size differently than FPL thresholds. Here, the 85% SMI threshold for a family of three in Kentucky is currently set at \$56.000.

<sup>c</sup> See Appendix D for details.

<sup>d</sup> See Appendix E for details.

Using these resources with what we know about the size of cliffs for families of different compositions, estimation of the impacts on Kentucky families and on the state proceeds in the next section.



## **Estimated impacts of benefit cliffs**

This report provides estimated impacts of Medicaid, KCHIP and childcare benefit cliffs for Kentucky resulting from the numbers of families at high risk of facing them in the coming 18-24 months. The risk level is designated by the proximity of each family's earnings to the benefit cliff as identified by the eligibility threshold for each benefit for that family's size.

Estimates provide the aggregate costs for all such families, per benefit, under two scenarios: a) circumstances in which families "power through" the cliffs and experience a loss in net resources; and b) circumstances in which parents "park" their wages to avoid the cliffs.

#### **Childcare Cliff Impacts**

This section includes basic estimation of annual costs, and some benefits, based on the family structure and number of children enrolled in care for more than 3,000 families that may encounter the childcare cliff in the coming 18-24 months, according to CHFS administrative data.

It is of course unlikely that all parents would make the same decision when facing a benefit cliff. Aggregate costs and benefits are outlined nonetheless, as a foundation to discussion of potential recommendations and to underscore the significant consequences of this cliff for families.

#### Costs and benefits if parents "power through" the cliff

Costs and benefits for the first year under this scenario are framed as follows:

- If all parents decide to "power through" the childcare cliff, they will experience a decline in net resources totaling **-\$23,277,170**, a *cost* to families resulting from their loss of subsidized care and the need to pay for private childcare in order for parents to continue working. This cost, or some portion of it, is also a cost to the local communities in which families were likely to purchase non-childcare goods.
- Based on the average cost of care for the families' children, a *benefit* of +**\$40,752,000** to private care facilities would be anticipated. (Both of these first two estimates are based on an assumption that Kentucky's private childcare sector would be able to accommodate all 6,012 children in appropriately accessible centers providing quality care acceptable to their parents.)
- The difference of **-\$17,474,830** between the benefit to the private care sector and the cost to parents represents an additional *cost* in lost subsidy payments to the CCAP subsidized care sector under current guidelines.

It is important to consider other costs of this scenario that are non-monetary, or at least challenging to quantify:

- Parents who experience such a significant decline in net resources are less likely to be able to manage saving for important purchases such as first homes, vehicles, or appliances, resulting in lower economic growth in the community.
- Families may also experience, even at 85% SMI, some degree of material hardship, described as when one or more basic needs become difficult to afford. Such parents often



experience increased anxiety or depressive symptoms, which are in turn detrimental to children's development.

#### Costs and benefits if parents "park their wages" to avoid the cliff

If all parents decide to "park their wages" in the face of the childcare cliff by either not accepting a new job or promotion or in some other way, costs and benefits under this scenario are framed as follows:

• It is estimated that families will experience a *loss* of earnings of at least -\$5,023,500 annually.<sup>34</sup> Since they avoid the CCAP cliff, their net resources would remain higher, countering this loss. However, parents who lose wages by avoiding cliffs will likely experience diminished earnings across their lifespan, ultimately costing themselves (and their communities) far larger sums than those presented here. There are also related social costs in lost tax revenues resulting from cliff avoidance, not quantified here, but likely significant.

It is important to consider other costs of this scenario that are non-monetary, or at least challenging to quantify:

- Parents who feel that they cannot exert maximum effort into their work in order to maintain financial security for their families are likely to experience a decrease in their sense of self-sufficiency.<sup>35</sup>
- Because of their suppressed earnings level, they may also experience material hardship, described as when one or more basic needs become difficult to afford. Again, such parents often experience increased anxiety or depressive symptoms, which are in turn detrimental to children's development.

#### **Adult Medicaid and KCHIP Cliff Impacts**

This section includes basic estimation of annual costs, and some benefits of Adult Medicaid and KCHIP chips for more than 19,600 and 7,130 families, respectively, that may encounter the cliffs in the coming 18-24 months, according to CHFS administrative data and extrapolation from ACS data on family structure and income to poverty ratios.

It is of course unlikely that all parents would make the same decision if facing a benefit cliff. Aggregate costs and benefits are outlined nonetheless, as a foundation to discussion of potential recommendations.

#### Costs and benefits if parents "power through" the Adult Medicaid cliff

Costs and benefits for the first year under this scenario are framed as follows:

If all parents decide to "power through" the Adult Medicaid cliff, they will experience a decline in net resources totaling -\$45,142,720, a cost to families because of their loss of adult Medicaid and the need to pay medical costs to non-Medicaid providers. (This estimate assumes that no major medical expenses will be incurred by the family in this time that are left uncovered through high deductibles.)

It is important to consider other costs of this scenario that are non-monetary, or at least challenging to quantify:



- Parents who experience such a significant decline in net resources are less likely to be able to manage saving for important purchases such as first homes, vehicles, or appliances.
- Because this decline in resources occurs at a relatively low level of income (138% FPL), • parents are likely to encounter material hardship, described as when one or more basic needs become difficult to afford. Such parents often experience increased anxiety or depressive symptoms, which are in turn detrimental to children's development.

#### Costs and benefits if parents "park their wages" to avoid the Adult Medicaid cliff

If all parents decide to "park their wages" in the face of the Medicaid cliff by either not accepting a new job or promotion or in some other way, costs and benefits under this scenario are framed as follows:

Families will experience a *loss* of earnings of at least **-\$29,400,000** annually. Since they • avoid the Adult Medicaid cliff, their net resources would remain higher, countering this loss. However, parents who lose wages by avoiding cliffs will likely experience diminished earnings across their lifespan, ultimately costing themselves (and their communities) far larger sums than those presented here. There are also related social costs in lost tax revenues resulting from cliff avoidance, not quantified here, but likely significant.

It is important to consider other costs of this scenario that are non-monetary, or at least challenging to quantify:

- Parents who feel that they cannot exert maximum effort into their work in order to maintain financial security for their families are likely to experience a decrease in their sense of self-sufficiency.
- Because of their suppressed earnings level, they may also experience material hardship, described as when one or more basic needs become difficult to afford. Again, such parents often experience increased anxiety or depressive symptoms, which are in turn detrimental to children's development.

#### Costs and benefits if parents "power through" the KCHIP cliff

Costs and benefits for the first year under this scenario are framed as follows: If all parents decide to "power through" the KCHIP cliff, they will experience a decline in net resources totaling -\$13,990,186, a cost to families because of their loss of KCHIP and the need to pay medical costs to non-Medicaid providers. (This estimate assumes that no major medical expenses will be incurred by the family in this time that are left uncovered through high deductibles.)

It is important to consider other costs of this scenario that are non-monetary, or at least challenging to quantify fully:

- Parents who experience such a significant decline in net resources are less likely to be able to manage saving for important purchases such as first homes, vehicles, or appliances.
- Even experiencing this decline in resources at a higher income level (218% FPL), parents are likely to encounter material hardship, described as when one or more basic needs



become difficult to afford. Such parents often experience increased anxiety or depressive symptoms, which are in turn detrimental to children's development.

#### Costs and benefits if parents "park their wages" to avoid the KCHIP cliff

If all parents decide to "park their wages" in the face of the KCHIP cliff by either not accepting a new job or promotion or in some other way, costs and benefits under this scenario are framed as follows:

• It is estimated that families will experience a *loss* of earnings of at least **-\$10,695,300** annually. Parents would also experience an important *loss* of workplace experience and forward momentum through their participation in the economy. This would likely dimish their earnings across the lifespan, costing them (and the larger communities in which they live) far larger sums.

It is important to consider other costs of this scenario that are non-monetary, or at least challenging to quantify:

- Parents who feel that they cannot exert maximum effort into their work in order to maintain financial security for their families are likely to experience a decrease in their sense of self-sufficiency.
- Because of their suppressed earnings level, they may also experience material hardship, described as when one or more basic needs become difficult to afford. Again, such parents often experience increased anxiety or depressive symptoms, which are in turn detrimental to children's development.

#### **SNAP Cliff Impacts**

This section includes basic estimation of annual costs, and some benefits, based on the family structure and size than 6,000 families that may encounter the SNAP cliff in the coming 18-24 months, according to analysis of CHFS administrative data.

It is of course unlikely that all parents would make the same decision if facing a benefit cliff. Aggregate costs and benefits are outlined nonetheless, as a foundation to discussion of potential recommendations.

#### Costs and benefits if parents "power through" the cliff

Costs and benefits for the first year under this scenario are framed as follows:

• If all parents decide to "power through" the SNAP cliff, they will experience a decline in net resources totaling **-\$5,176,147**, a *cost* to families resulting from their loss of SNAP benefits and the need to pay more for food.

It is important to consider other costs of this scenario that are non-monetary, or at least challenging to quantify:

• Although the SNAP cliffs are not the largest cliffs, parents who experience these decreases in net resources may be less likely to be able to save for important purchases such as first homes, vehicles, or appliances, particularly in the first year of encountering this cliff.



#### Costs and benefits if parents "park their wages" to avoid the cliff

If all parents decide to "park their wages" in the face of the SNAP cliff by either not accepting a new job or promotion or in some other way, costs and benefits under this scenario are framed as follows:

• It is estimated that families will experience a *loss* of earnings of at least **-\$9,016,500** annually. While their net resources would remain higher, countering this loss, parents would also experience an important *loss* of workplace experience and forward momentum through their participation in the economy. This would likely diminish their earnings across the lifespan, costing them (and the larger communities in which they live) far larger sums.

It is important to consider other costs of this scenario that are non-monetary, or at least challenging to quantify:

- Parents who feel that they cannot exert maximum effort into their work in order to maintain financial security for their families are likely to experience a decrease in their sense of self-sufficiency.
- Because of their suppressed earnings level, they may also experience material hardship, described as when one or more basic needs become difficult to afford. Again, such parents often experience increased anxiety or depressive symptoms, which are in turn detrimental to children's development.



# Section 2: Policy Recommendations

This section details specific recommendations to mitigate benefit cliffs affecting families currently receiving benefits in addition to families who may take up benefits in the future. It includes specific recommendations to address the childcare, Medicaid, and KCHIP cliffs, limited recommendations for the SNAP cliff, as well as general recommendations relating to the childcare sector in Kentucky.

## **Childcare Cliff Recommendations**

The largest benefit cliff facing Kentucky families currently occurs when parents lose access to subsidized childcare, as soon as parents earn 85% of the State Median Income (SMI). For a single-parent family with one child, this occurs when the parent earns \$44,916, and for a twoparent family with one child, this happens when the parents earn \$55,476. They must then pay the current rates in their area for private care for children. The size of the benefit cliff ranges, across all counties, from an average \$3,875 for two-parent families with one child to an average \$16,344 for a single-parent family with three children, and it can mean a shift from paying as little as 4%, as they approach the cliff, to more than 30% of family earnings on childcare. The following recommendations would mitigate the current childcare cliff:

- 1) Decrease copayments for low-income families. Families without earnings should pay nothing for subsidized care. Copayments would start at 3% of earnings when families' income is \$17,000 and gradually increase to no more than 7% of earnings when families' earnings reach 85% of the state median income (SMI), which is the current exit threshold for subsidized care. This is important in order to be in line with current federal recommended guidelines and to help address SNAP cliffs. (For more on these guidelines and the percentages of earnings families pay under current copayment schedules, see Appendix G.)
- 2) Extend the exit income threshold to 125% SMI. Moving the exit threshold out to a higher income level means that parents will have more income to cover the very high costs of private care.
- 3) Between 85% SMI and the new exit threshold (125% SMI), the state should require subsidy copayments that steeply increase as parents' earnings grow, coming close to the cost of private care just as families reach the exit threshold. Implementing the second recommendation on its own would just shift the cliff up to a higher income level. Increasing copayments steeply will mitigate the benefit cliffs, support families in becoming independent, and enable parents to share responsibility for subsidized care with the state government, thereby limiting the investment level needed by the state.

Returning to the family scenario in Section 1, in which Douglas and Helen decided that they could not afford for Helen to work more hours at the dental practice because of this cliff, it is evident that this recommendation would greatly improve their circumstances. Were Helen to take the additional, increasing the family's income to \$67,000, they would retain eligibility for subsidized care, so that their net resources, instead of steeply dropping, would increase even as they pay higher copayments for child care. This would continue unless the family income exceeded 125% SMI, or roughly \$97,000. At that point, they would lose subsidized care but would be able to pay for private care and their net resources would continue to increase.





Importantly, this approach works for other types for families as well. The childcare benefit cliff is especially challenging for single-parent families because eligibility guidelines, including exit thresholds, are determined by family size regardless of number of parents. As an example, a single parent with two children loses subsidized care at the same income level as a two-parent family with one child, but must then pay private care costs for the additional child in the family, leading potentially to a significantly greater loss in net resources. The following example highlights both how steep the childcare cliff is for such families, and how the suggested recommendations mediate the cliff:



51

Jamie works in Human Resources for a manufacturing company's offices in Jefferson County, earning \$55,000 a year. Currently this provides her with almost \$9,000 in net resources for the year, and she is being considered for a supervisory role in her department. However, the childcare benefit cliff means that she will abruptly lose subsidized care for her two children when she earns \$56,000 (85%SMI for a family of three). As a result, her annual net resources will decrease more than \$14,000.

However, with the recommended policy shifts, Jamie could retain the subsidized care her family has relied on as she takes on additional work and earns more. She will pay more in copayments for that care, sharing responsibility for her children's care. Once her income eventually increases to 125%SMI (roughly \$81,000 for her family), Jamie will lose access to CCAP but will be able to pay for private care for her children without experiencing a benefit cliff.



Childcare on the private market in Jefferson County, on average, is the highest in the state, and costs of living generally are high there as well; the percentage of individuals living in poverty is slightly lower than the state average, at 14.5%. In contrast, costs are much lower in Carter County, but the percentage of households living below the poverty line (100% FPL) is 31.1%, which is significantly higher than the average among all households in the Commonwealth (16.9%). Of families living in the County in 2020 with children, 57% had incomes under 200% FPL. As reported in December, 2022, the unemployment rate among able-bodied adults was 31.1%, much higher than the Kentucky average at that time (4.0%).

The following example demonstrates how the same policy recommendations would address the childcare benefit cliff in a region of the state with quite different challenges, for a family in Carter County.



Sandra is a senior accountant working for the County's medical services. She has worked hard to support her family of three young children. She now earns roughly \$65,000. Her use of subsidized childcare (along with the relatively low cost of living in Carter County) enables her to afford mortgage payments on a small home. However, as she plans for her children's future, she would like to earn more and save to ensure that they will one day attend college. She is considering applying for a more senior role at her agency.

However, Sandra has recently learned about the childcare benefit cliff, which for her will occur at \$67,000 (85% SMI for a family of four) under current legislation. At that point, because of the cost of private childcare, she will have great difficulty even paying for her home, because her net resources will decline from over \$20,000 annually to roughly \$7,000. She is unclear how she will navigate this cliff, especially because she does work hard and feels she deserves advancement in the near future.



However, with the recommended policy shifts, as soon as she earns a salary at the 85% SMI level, Sandra will begin to pay manageably higher copayments whiel continuing to see her net resources increasing. Once she earns 125% SMI, she will be accustomed to paying copayments that are roughly equivalent to the cost of private care, so that at that point the loss of subsidized childcare will not hinder her family's growing prosperity.

### **Medicaid Cliff Recommendations**

The benefit cliff facing Kentucky families when they lose Medicaid for adults is of particular concern because it occurs at a relatively low earnings level of 138% FPL, or at roughly \$34,000 for a family of three. In addition, this cliff can constitute a considerable drop in net resources for low-income families, ranging from more than \$1,000 for single-parent families to as high as \$3,639 for two-parent families with three children. Many families could fall below the breakeven level if they choose to "power through" this cliff.

Families lose eligibility for Medicaid for children at 147% FPL, and for KCHIP at 218% FPL. The Family Resource Simulator assumes that children have coverage until their parents earn income at 218% FPL (or at roughly \$54,000 for a family of three), at which point the magnitude of the benefit cliff varies according to the number of children in the family.

The Simulator also assumes that family members move from Medicaid or CHIP onto an employer-provided plan for which they will need to pay at least a portion of premiums. If families incur high medical costs as a result of healthcare needs and high deductibles under non-Medicaid insurance policies, their net resources may fall even farther than the fairly conservative estimates included in this report.

The provision of Qualified Health Plans (QHPs) by the Commonwealth provides a ready-made solution to both the cliff for the loss of Medicaid for adults and children and that for the loss of KCHIP.

The illustration below demonstrates that, for Dave and Mary in Hopkins County (from section 1), enrollment in a Qualified Health Plan would resolve the cliff when they lose adult Medicaid:





By enrolling in a Silver-level Qualified Health Plan (QHP), Dave and Mary can avoid the loss of more than \$2,000 of net resources if Dave accepts a promotion and increase in his salary. Until the family income reaches 150% FPL (or roughly \$38,000 for a family of three), the family's expected contribution to the plan is \$0. This increases gradually as the family's income rises in relation to the poverty line. For those earning between 150% and 200%FPL, the expected contribution is between 0-2% of family earnings; between 200% and 250%FPL, it is between 2-4%; and between 250% and 300%FPL, it is between 4-6%.<sup>36</sup>

This solution is largely consistent for families of all types across counties. *Families that enroll in a silver-level QHP can avoid the cliffs causing decreases in net resources at 138% FPL (for adults) and 218% FPL (for children) and retain health insurance coverage.* Unfortunately, only approximately 16% of individuals transitioning from Medicaid are enrolling in QHPs. The issue seems to stem not from a lack of policy solutions but from adequate adoption by individual families, leading to this recommendation:

- 1. Conduct a strong campaign to target low-income families with news of the importance and benefits of silver-level QHPs, which effectively reduce premiums to \$0 for families with incomes under 150% FPL and effectively protect against high deductibles. NCCP has conducted research into effective strategies to boost enrollment in these programs, offering these methods used in other states with higher ACA enrollment rates from a meta-review investigating the effectiveness across states of individual assistance, community outreach, and health education and promotion:<sup>37</sup>
  - a. California, which in 2021 had a 39% rate<sup>38</sup> of enrollment among those eligible in the state, offered in-person enrollment support.
  - b. Minnesota, with a 32% enrollment rate, organized outreach events in community centers, places of worship, and townhalls. They also collaborated with small business groups and healthcare providers, developed educational and promotional materials, and organized print and social media campaigns.



- c. Missouri, with a 33% enrollment rate, provided an online decision aid called "Show Me My Health Plan" (SMHP), which aimed to 1) simplify written information and graphics 2) activities to assess understanding of health insurance information 3) provide a financial calculator for plans and 4) assess appropriateness of selected plan based on need.
- d. Oregon, which boosted its enrollment rate to 33%, developed simplified information on health insurance, enrollment, and deadlines. They also provided both generic and personalized messaging (letters, emails, and telephone calls) during key deadlines.
- e. Arizona, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Michigan, New Jersey, North Carolina, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Texas (some of which attained some of the highest enrollment rates in the country) collected individual contact to follow-up and provide information on health insurance coverage, enrollment, and key deadlines. They also collaborated with local organizations to extend reach.

There is as well as a second recommendation already under consideration in Kentucky:

2. Adoption of a state-funded Basic Health Program (BHP) in Kentucky as a transitional measure, enabling families who rely on a network of trusted doctors through Medicaid to continue with those providers to access a "bridge insurance program" for adults earning from \$139%-200% FPL. This would afford low-income families more time, as their earnings increase, to become informed about Qualified Health Programs, which is an especially important aim for parents since children will lose access to Medicaid for their children at 218% FPL.

Considerations around the second Medicaid recommendation, the adoption of a Basic Health Program, have already been extensively detailed in a presentation from 2021 by the Milliman Consulting Group. These programs enable states to tailor design according to local values and concerns, but the chief advantages that could currently support Kentucky families include:

- Continuity of care for those who lose Medicaid coverage, through use of Medicaid provider networks; and
- Simplicity of selection, in contrast to selection of Marketplace plans.

A caveat around the consideration of the BHP as reported in this presentation is such a plan would provide coverage only for adults, and only for families earning up to 200% FPL. Since the loss of KCHIP at 218% FPL can occur in close "proximity" along the income scale as the loss of subsidized childcare at 85% SMI, it is believed that support for the widespread adoption by families of silver-level QHP's is a preferable solution for Kentucky's families living in or near poverty.



## SNAP Cliff: Limited Recommendations

As noted in Section 1, the average SNAP cliffs affecting Kentucky families are not large in comparison to childcare cliffs or certain cliffs resulting from loss of Medicaid/KCHIP. Further, Kentucky already has used the most effective tool afforded to states have in reducing benefit cliffs resulting from the loss of this federal support – the extension of the gross income limit to 200% FPL under Broad-Based Categorical Eligibility.

Since the calculation of SNAP benefits typically involves deductions of childcare costs from income that is "countable" in this calculation, families with very high childcare costs may have higher SNAP benefits, and thus potentially larger SNAP cliffs, than similar families with lower childcare costs. Because of this, the recommendation to adjust copayments for subsidized care to a lower percentage of family incomes for low-income families (gradually shifting up to 7% as parents' earnings approach 85% SMI, per explanation in Appendix G) can further minimize SNAP cliffs. Similarly, efforts to mitigate the high costs of private child care in Kentucky (see recommendation on the childcare cliff to lower copayments) can also produce smaller SNAP cliffs, since families could deduct lower care costs from the "countable income" in calculating SNAP benefit amounts and thus supporting the "phasing out" of the benefit as the family earns at or near 200% FPL.

Additionally, it should be noted that it is important to support the continuation of Broad-Based Categorical Eligibility (BBCE) in federal policy guidelines, as a means for states to employ various policy levers in support of families receiving SNAP benefits. Without the option to adopt BBCE, Kentucky would not have been able to extend the gross income limit to 200% FPL, so that many families would certainly experience larger benefit cliffs as well as less nutritional support.

## General recommendations regarding the childcare sector

A report<sup>39</sup> released in October, 2023 highlights survey results indicating that more than half (54%) of Kentucky parents who were surveyed in June have struggled to find child care, especially those with younger children. Importantly, more than one in three of these parents reported that they had been forced to change their job status as a result of "child care issues." In response to a question surveying parents on lifestyle changes they had had to make in order to provide child care themselves, more than one in four (26%) parents reported having "quit work to stay at home" for this reason; almost one in six (15%) responded that they "declined a promotion"; one in three (33%) had "limited working hours." Nearly two in three (65%) of all respondents (not just parents) disagreed with the statement that "child care programs in Kentucky are affordable," and more than seven in ten (72%) of "all voters" expressed their support for "investing more taxpayer money to increase high-quality child care programs."

Benefit cliffs resulting from the loss of subsidized childcare in Kentucky are as large as they are because of the significantly increasing costs of private care, a phenomenon that is not limited to the state of Kentucky and that has actually increased, overall, since the pandemic. Nationally, as well, parents in lower- and middle-income families have been more likely to experience work disruptions because of an inability to find or afford care in recent years, and they are more likely



to make "serious" job changes, often curtailing hours or working for lower pay, because of childcare demands.<sup>40</sup> Survey responses suggest that childcare provision in Kentucky, whether privately or publicly funded, is undergoing challenges similar to those in many other states. In many communities, the childcare work force has not recovered fully since the pandemic. High inflation in 2021-22 has meant that childcare workers' previous levels of pay were more inadequate than ever. Providers struggle to keep their centers open, and many have no incentive to accept the child care subsidy because they can earn more by serving families who can afford to pay the full rate. Very often, this leaves families of low income without realistic options for reliable child care of acceptable quality. Even Head Start and pre-k providers struggle in this landscape, in many cases.

The counterpoint to these developments is that more is now known than ever before about the significant benefits that follow investment by federal and state government in early care and education. Of high relevance to this report: across a number of studies, research into the effects of reductions in childcare cost on parents' labor force participation have established that such impacts are positive and often significant in magnitude (Morrissey, 2017).<sup>41</sup>

There are additional findings for the economic health of communities across time, in the form of long-term benefits for parents, children, and taxpayers in response to improvements in early care access. One study estimating the effects of New York's recent child care subsidy expansion (the New York State Child Care Expansion, or NYSCCE) predicts a net present value between seven and eight times in annual social benefits relative to the yearly cost of the program under new rules (extending the exit eligibility threshold for parents; altering the copayment schedule; and providing important incentives and supports for childcare workers in the state).<sup>42</sup> This very high return on the original investment includes both direct benefits to recipients of the subsidies (parents and children) and indirect benefits to taxpayers. In this analysis, the highest benefits accrue from increases in children's health across the lifespan as well as their longevity and from reduced expenditures (for taxpayers) in criminal justice and victimization costs.

NCCP supports generous investment by federal and local governments in the childcare sector, whether private or subsidized, to promote economic mobility for low-income and medianincome parents. We respectfully recommend consideration of these strategies, in consideration of the state's unique challenges as well as with knowledge of strategies that have been successful elsewhere in the U.S.:

- 6) Continue incentivizing childcare workers to work in subsidized centers by providing their families with places in subsidized care for their children. Kentucky's strategy to boost the workforce (via "protected" status), now nationally profiled, has been effective in supporting the childcare sector and parents' employment together.
- 7) Offer a refundable tax credit to childcare workers, including eligible staff and directors. Louisiana has offered generous credits since 2009, interlaced with a robust training program for caregivers:<sup>43</sup> evaluation of this initiative found that from 2009 to 2016, the percentage of children under age six who receive child care subsidy or foster care services and were enrolled in centers with ratings of 3 stars or above increased from 20% to 46%.
- 8) To address so-called childcare "deserts" and remedy underemployment, work to expand Kentucky's subsidized care system by taking actions to support child care centers and attract eligible families:



- a) Ensure that providers are reimbursed at the 75<sup>th</sup> percentile for quality care in the area.<sup>44</sup> Federal recommendations support this level of reimbursement. If providers are reimbursed at a level that is competitive with the market rate for all care in their state, they will be more likely to provide subsidized slots for children, better able to pay workers adequately, and more likely to stay in business.
- b) Invest in providers by reimbursing for the cost of subsidized slots in which children are enrolled, rather than according to attendance rates. This strategy acknowledges the "cost of doing business" for small centers and provides stabilizing investment into this critical sector. Further, this practice is now widely advised, as part of a federal proposed rule change, along with the 7% cap on copayments.
- c) Continue to assess capacity, i.e., the number of subsidized care places of sufficient quality that can be offered to families throughout Kentucky. Ensuring that subsidized care is of sufficiently high quality in all regions can reduce "subsidy stigma" and increase the perception by families at different income levels that subsidized care can support their families and their own workforce participation.
- 9) Reduce administrative burdens from parents' access to subsidized care. These burdens, which can be especially destabilizing to low-income parents when attempting to care for children and participate in work, can include:
  - a) Continue to make information on subsidized care, including available places and copayment rates, readily available to the public in all locations throughout the state.
  - b) Support the use of a waitlist for subsidized childcare places, if needed, as a signal of genuine need for care that will support workforce participation through appropriate levels of subsidy take-up. Administrative reluctance to maintain waitlists for subsidized care may reflect concerns that such waitlists reflect poor management of data or potential fraud, but genuine need *must* be assessed in order to inform policy decisions.
- 10) Establish employer-funded childcare tax credits. While these would only benefit employees with companies offering them, they can provide valuable incentives to employees and would help transfer some costs of investment in the childcare industry to the private sector.
- 11) Continue support for employers' contributions to child care expenses through the Employee Child Care Assistance Partnership (ECCAP)<sup>45</sup>, which provides matching funds from the government when employers (including small businesses) commit to helping workers to pay for childcare. Since parents' employment benefits business owners as well as families, this program rightly incentivizes employers to help with the high costs of care.
- 12) In August, 2022, the Prichard Committee provided invaluable insights into the Kentucky childcare sector after interviewing 500 providers in the state.<sup>46</sup> To adequately support Kentucky's workforce of working parents, a full accounting of families' experiences with both subsidized care and private care is needed. Conduct a full, state-wide assessment of subsidy take-up and provision. With just around 21,000 families of all those families earning below 85% SMI (provide %) currently receiving subsidies for childcare, this low take-up rate of a critical economic support suggests high rates of underemployment among parents under 85% SMI. While this is a consequence of the very high costs of private care, learning more about why low-income parents currently do not access subsidized care for their families is important. Equally important to learn about are the experiences subsidy-using parents have had with access and care for their children. Finally, learning how parents adapt



to the options available to them - how their employment has been impacted, especially - is critical to the health of the workforce.

### **Additional recommendations**

- This report advocates for continuing copayment requirements of parents, although under a revised schedule supporting recommendations for childcare cliffs (see Appendix G for recommended percentages of income required for copayments at different income levels). Currently, families are not responsible for the copayments established by schedule in <u>922 KAR 2:160</u>. Although this policy may be considered family-friendly, it is not advisable because in effect, such practice makes benefit cliffs steeper; when families must begin paying for private childcare, they experience a much larger financial shock if they have not been responsible for copayments when earning less. As seen in the analysis of current cliffs in this report (which assumes families are paying the copayments required under current law), these cliffs are already quite large enough to discourage working parents.
- Encourage employers who want to hire and promote candidates who are parents to do so with knowledge of benefit cliffs' effects on families. If for example, when offering a raise so that a parent's income would push them off of subsidized care, childcare cliff (or slope), employers can make the increase in pay larger or schedule it differently, so that it is a true incentive to hard-working parents. (The <u>KYSTATS Family</u> <u>Resource Simulator</u> is a valuable HR tool, and should be promoted as such.)



## **Appendix A: FRS Methodology**

In order to identify and measure benefit cliffs, this analysis employed simulated data modeling \$1,000 increases in household income using KYSTATS' Family Resource Simulator system with local costs and tax rates. Analyses of households featured six different family types: single-parent and two-parent households with either one, two or three children. For each of these family types and at each income point, family expenses, taxes, and tax credits in each county were assessed against earnings to provide net resources at each level, from \$1,000 to an upper income limit in a range from \$80,000 through \$123,000, depending on family size. In this framework, a cliff occurred whenever the additional \$1,000 in incremental earnings resulted in greater than \$1,000 in costs due to either a complete loss of public benefit, a decline in the value of a public benefit, an increase in costs, or, most likely, a combination of these three.

For all simulations, the "default" FRS settings were selected, which means the families were modeled as receiving all of the following work supports if and when eligible: Child Care and Development Fund Subsidies (CCDF/CCAP), SNAP/Food Stamps, Public Health Insurance (Medicaid), TANF Cash Assistance (KTAP), Lifeline telephone subsidy program, Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP), Women, Infants, and Children (WIC), Supplemental Security Income (SSI), National School Breakfast Program (NSBP), National School Lunch Program (NSLP), Free Summer Meals Program (FSMP), Federal Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC), Federal Child Tax Credit, Federal Child and Dependent Care Tax Credit, Federal Premium Tax Credit, State KY Child and Dependent Care Credit, and State KY Family Size Tax Credit.

The FRS models net resources for a range of family types by subtracting a family's estimated expenses from estimated resources, including earnings and benefits from cash assistance and near-cash assistance. Some public benefits, like TANF and SNAP benefits, are considered cash or near-cash and are included in family resources, while others are incorporated as reductions in family expenses, due to the nature of the benefits. SNAP benefits are considered "near-cash" because research shows that most families treat their SNAP benefits as an exchangeable commodity akin to cash. Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP) benefits, however, are usually paid directly to utility companies, and therefore are normally calculated as a reduction in expenses.

By comparing earnings and public benefits against basic expenses, the FRS calculates the extent to which earnings combined with public benefits can cover basic expenses like food, shelter, child care, and transportation. The extent to which a family can meet basic expenses is calculated as a family's "net resources," which can also be thought of as a family's financial bottom line or their disposable income.

The main formulae driving the tool are:

(1) Family Resources = earnings + interest + SSI + child support received + TANF + SNAP + federal tax credits + state tax credits + local tax credits



54

- (2) Family Expenses = Tax before credits + payroll tax + rent paid + child care expenses + food expenses + transportation expenses + other expenses + sales tax + health expenses + disability-related expenses + after-school expenses + debt payments
- (3) Net resources = Family Resources Basic Expenses

For the online FRS tool, the calculations for each of these categories of resources and expenses are based partially on answers that users of the tool provide in response to a series of questions across seven steps on the tool's interface; these answers provide the tool with inputs that the tool's algorithms (currently contained in Perl codes) use to determine the program's outputs. While the public-facing tool asks users to select either default settings or override those defaults, microsimulation models such as the one employed for this report derived most of these inputs from administrative data using KYSTATS's KLDS system. When the FRS required data that are not included in the KLDS, NCCP worked collaboratively with KYSTATS to either impute missing data or use similar defaults as those currently included in the FRS. NCCP expects to rely on government and industry standards and surveys for determining the underlying costs of goods included in a basic family budget in the following cases:

- Unsubsidized child care costs: Default costs for child care utilize market rate studies published by state child care agencies, usually based on the 75<sup>th</sup> percentile of market rates, per federal standards in setting CCDF policy.
- *Health Insurance when individuals lose Medicaid eligibility.* Default premiums for employer plans were based on average employee contributions for employer coverage according to the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey conducted by the U.S. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.
- *Unsubsidized rent costs:* Default costs are based on U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development Fair Market Rents.
- *Food:* Default food costs will be based on the Low-Cost Food Plan developed by the USDA.
- *Transportation:* The FRS methodology estimates transportation costs based partially on whether a family lives in an urban center with a robust public transportation network or whether they will require a car to get to work and bring children to child care. Transportation costs per ride are based on local public transportation rates and the number of trips or standard mileage and cost-per-mile rates.
- *Phone, internet, and other expenses:* NCCP estimates these additional expenses using consumer expenditure survey (CEX) data on a selected set of expenses considered necessary for family stability, absent luxuries. Following a methodology used by the Economic Policy Institute (ESI) for determining the "miscellaneous" expenses families need for their Family Budget Calculator, these procedures are followed: a) total average CEX expenses for these items spent by the second-lowest quintile of household income; b) determine the ratio of this total compared to total household rent/mortgage expenses and food expenses; and c) multiply that ratio by the sum of FRS estimations of rent and food. The result is a total of "other" expenses that vary by family size and geographic location, providing a helpful adjustment of the cost of living based on these factors.



# Appendix B: Preliminary benefit cliff analyses in late 2022

The October 2022 Family Resource Simulator (FRS) enabled identification of six most common benefit cliffs in Kentucky at that time: the CCAP cliff, the CCAP/KTAP cliff, the Adult Medicaid cliff, the WIC and children's Medicaid cliff, and the SNAP cliff. These cliffs varied in size and occurrence based on the location and structure of the family receiving programs. At that point in time, NCCP found that at least 17,492 families could face benefit cliffs in the last quarter of 2022, using Kentucky Longitudinal Data System (KLDS) estimates from SNAP and KTAP enrollment. The Center provided administrative and non-administrative recommendations for consideration for FRS expansion and addressing existing benefit cliffs.

Overall, most counties faced similar benefit cliffs, with variation in timing and magnitude. On average, for single-parent families, those with one child experienced five benefit cliffs, those with two children faced seven, and those with three children faced five. Two-parent families typically experienced more cliffs; those with one or two children experienced seven cliffs on average, and those with three children typically faced six cliffs.



Weighted average cliff effect across family type

Sum of Amount in \$ for each Program Type1. The marks are labeled by sum of Amount in \$. The view is filtered on Program Type1, which excludes Child Care Costs.

As stated, in late 2022 and the first quarter of 2023, Kentucky's legislature made several changes to assist families, including the following: CCAP income eligibility increased to 85% of the state medium income level; the asset limit for KTAP increased from \$2,000 to \$10,000; KTAP's gross income limit increased (e.g., to \$1,315/month for a family of four); and the standard of need for KTAP lifted (e.g., to \$710/month for a family of four).

Legislation also raised CCAP income eligibility limits to 85% SMI, in order to exceed the SNAP gross income limit at 200% FPL.

In response to these policy changes, NCCP coordinated with KYSTATS on revision of the FRS in order to assess what cliffs remained problematic for families at varying income levels. The results of those subsequent analyses are provided in this report.



## **Appendix C: Families receiving CCAP subsidies**

Administrative data was provided as an attachment to email on 9/5/2023 by KYSTATS personnel. These data included numbers of households currently enrolled in subsidized childcare, as well as the numbers of parents, children, and the numbers of children enrolled in care. Also included were the monthly net income used in consideration for CCAP eligibility, supporting estimation of the number of families who could approach the cliff in the next 12-18 months.

These data reflected that at least 20,580 households were enrolled in 2023 at the point in time that these administrative data were collected. As presented in Table C below, more than 81% of these households were single-parent families; conversely, the income levels of these households were much lower, on average, than those of two-parent families.

Analysis was conducted using income data for these households to identify those who were within 10% (for single-parent families) or 20% (for two-parent families) below the income eligibility threshold for their family size. This work produced the estimate that approximately 6,012 families might approach the benefit cliffs for CCAP at 85% SMI within 12-18 months. As Table C shows, almost three in four (73.9%) of these families, or 4,442, are two-parent families, while 26.1%, or 1,570, are single-parent families.

#### Table C – Families enrolled in CCAP in 2023, by family type and number of children enrolled

Family type with number of children enrolled in CCAP	# of cases	% of cases	# facing cliffs
Single-parent households with one child enrolled	10,408	51.0%	1,023
Single-parent households with two children enrolled	4,561	22.2%	443
Single-parent households with three children enrolled	1,728	8.4%	92
Single-parent nousenolds with more than 3 children enrolled	618	3.0%	12
Two-parent households with one child enrolled	1,807	8.7%	2,544
Two-parent households with two children enrolled	916	4.4%	1,645
Two-parent households with three children enrolled	386	1.9%	221
Two-parent households with more than 3 children enrolled	163	<1%	32
	20,587	100%	



# Appendix D: Administrative data on families receiving Medicaid or KCHIP

Administrative data was provided as an attachment to email on 10/23/2023 by KYSTATS personnel. These data included numbers of households approved by Medicaid for services in 2023 with family size (total number of persons), organized by their income level relative to the income limits relating to Adult Medicaid (138% FPL) and KCHIP (218% FPL). These data were analyzed to provide total numbers of families participating in Medicaid (196,000) and KCHIP (59,400), as well as how many of these families were likely to approach the benefit cliffs for each program in the next 18-24 months.

Many families participating in Medicaid for adults and children have extremely low incomes, making it unlikely that they will face the cliff; based on other data on Kentucky incomes and households from the American Census Survey, it is estimated that in the next 12-18 months, roughly 10% of enrolled families may face the Medicaid cliff at 138% FPL, or 19,600, and that approximately 12% of enrolled families may face the KCHIP cliff at 218% FPL.



# **Appendix E: Administrative data on families** receiving SNAP

Administrative data was provided as an attachment to email on 9/8/2023 by KYSTATS personnel. It provided the numbers of families by family type (as determined by number of parents and number of children) who received SNAP benefits in 2022. These data provided by KYSTATS provided a total number of families receiving the benefit (128,700), and indicated which families were wage-earning.

For those families earning wages, a figure was provided presenting the median wages of each group of families by type. As seen in table E below, most families who earned wages while receiving SNAP reported incomes well below 200% FPL, suggesting that very few would face the SNAP benefit cliff in the coming months.

Based on the numbers of families by type, their median wages, and the distance of those wages from the benefit cliff, estimation of how many families were likely to face the benefit cliff within 18-24 months. Based on extrapolation from other sources suggesting that two-parent families are more likely than single-parent families to face benefit cliffs, it was estimated that approximately 5% of single-parent families and 12% of two-parent families could face the benefit cliff for SNAP within 18-24 months, or roughly 6,000 families.

#### Table E – Wage-earning families receiving SNAP benefits in 2022

Family type	Families earning wages	Median wages of recipient families
Single-parent, one child	26,620	\$11,900
Single-parent, one child	23,314	\$13,685
Single-parent, one child	13,547	\$14,273
Two-parent, one child	5,447	\$19,227
Two-parent, one child	7,389	\$24,227
Two-parent, one child	6,083	\$27,469
TOTAL	82,400	



# **Appendix F: Size of cliffs in FRS data**

Simulated data provided by KYSTATS using the Family Resource Simulator included data on families' earnings, taxes, other income, and expense categories for families of different types and sizes across all 120 Kentucky counties. For each family, data reflected changing net resource levels and expenses as earnings increased by \$1,000 increments, from \$0 up to levels as high as \$120,000, depending on family size. While this data does not correspond to actual families, it enabled analyses of conditions under which families experienced benefit cliffs. Table G below provides the number of cliffs the FRS data simulated, by the size of the cliff (or loss in net resources).

#### Size of FRS cliffs represented as loss in net resources Smaller than -\$1000 3,043 Between -\$1000 and -\$2500 1,396 Between -\$2500 and -\$3500 799 Between -\$3500 and -\$5000 322 Between -\$5000 and -\$7500 90 Between -\$7500 and -\$10000 103 Between -\$10000 and -\$12500 93 Between -\$12500 and -\$15000 143 Larger than -\$15000 97 Total 6,086



# Appendix G: Expenditures on CCAP Copayments as Percentage of Earnings

When parents encounter the childcare cliff, they must suddenly pay a much higher percentage of their income for childcare costs. The table below provides the average proportion of income that parents pay, across all Kentucky counties, under copayments as designated in current legislation:

Family type	Single- parent, one child	Single- parent, two children	Single- parent, three children	Two- parent, one child	Two- parent, two children	Two- parent, three children
Exit income threshold for CCAP	\$45,000	\$56,000	\$67,000	\$56,000	\$67,000	\$77,000
Average % of income paid in childcare copayments when earning slightly less than the exit threshold		7%	6%	6%	6%	9%
Average % of income paid for private childcare just past the exit threshold	18%	26%	32%	14%	22%	28%

Additionally, under copayment schedules, parents who need full-time care at very low incomes pay a higher percentage of their earnings than the federal government currently recommends (7%)<sup>1</sup>. In fact, parents who work full-time jobs pay a higher proportion of their earnings in copayments at lower earnings levels than they do just before the benefit cliff:



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Congressional Research Service memo recommending the 7% cap on childcare subsidy copayments (2022).



#### National Center for Children in Poverty

Bank Street Graduate School of Education

61

The graph below illustrates that under our proposed recommendations, a family of three in Hopkins County would spend a significantly lower proportion of their earnings on copayments for subsidized care until reaching the current 85%SMI (\$ for a family of three) exit eligibility threshold. From that earnings level, with subsidized care partly supported by the Commonwealth, parents' copayments would steeply ramp up until they would pay copayments approaching the market rate before losing access to subsidized care at 125%SMI.





<sup>8</sup> Sharkey P, Elwert F. (2011). The legacy of disadvantage: multigenerational neighborhood effects on cognitive ability. American Journal of Sociology, 116(6): 1934–1981.

<sup>9</sup> Small ML, McDermott M. (2006). The presence of organizational resources in poor urban neighborhoods: an analysis of average and contextual effects. Social Forces, 84:1697-1724.

<sup>10</sup> Federal Register, The Daily Journal of the United States Government. (2023, July). Improving Child Care Access, Affordability, and Stability in the Child Care and Development Fund (CCDF). U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration of Children and Families.

https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2023/07/13/2023-14290/improving-child-care-access-affordability-andstability-in-the-child-care-and-development-fund-ccdf.

<sup>11</sup> Email from CHFS staff on December 8, 2023 indicated that of 42,368 individuals who transitioned from Medicaid receipt from May through November, 2023, just 6,572 (16%) enrolled in QHP plans.

<sup>12</sup> Ruder, A., Siwicki, J., Terry, E. & Toyin-Adelaja, T. (2020). Benefits Cliffs as a Barrier to Career Advancement for Low-Income Adults: Insights from Employment Services Providers. FRB Atlanta Community and Economic Development Discussion Paper No. 2020-2, Available at

SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3587378 or http://dx.doi.org/10.29338/dp2020-02

<sup>13</sup> Generally, a family with income below 200% of the Federal Poverty Line (FPL) is considered to be "lowincome," while a family with income below 100% FPL is living "in poverty." The actual income associated with the FPL varies according to household size.

<sup>14</sup> Kentucky Youth Advocates, Louisville, KY. (2022). Kentucky KIDS COUNT County Data Book, accessed at: https://www.chfs.ky.gov/agencies/dms/tac/documents/kidscountdata.pdf.

<sup>15</sup> U.S. Census Bureau. (n.d.). 2021 American Community Survey 1-year Estimates Detailed Tables for 2021 included Income to Poverty Level Ratios of Families by Nativity of Children Under 18 years Old and Living Arrangements in Kentucky. Retrieved October 7, 2023 from https://data.census.gov/.

<sup>16</sup> Childress, M.T., Clark, M.W., & Paris, B. (2021). Kentucky Annual Economic Report, 2021, Center for Business and Economic Research at the Gatton College of Business and Economics at the University of Kentucky. Accessed September 23, 2023 at https://cber.uky.edu/news/2021/economic-impact-kentuckys-workforce.

<sup>17</sup> Burnett, J. (2023). County Unemployment Rates: Dec. 2022. Kentucky Association of Counties. Accessed August 23, 2023 at https://www.kaco.org/articles/county-unemployment-rates-dec-2022/.

<sup>18</sup> Kentucky Center for Statistics. (2023, July). Workforce Overview Report for Kentucky Regions. https://kystats.ky.gov/Latest/WORKR.

<sup>19</sup> Annie E. Casey Foundation Data Center. (2023, September). Unemployment Rate of Parents in Kentucky.

Accessed October 4, 2023 at https://datacenter.aecf.org/data/tables/6519-unemployment-rate-of-

parents?loc=19&loct=2#detailed/2/19/false/1095,2048,574,1729,37,871/any/13484,14405.

<sup>20</sup> McKee-Ryan, F. M., & Harvey, J. (2011). "I Have a Job, But ....": A Review of Underemployment. Journal of Management, 37(4), 962-996. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206311398134.

<sup>21</sup> Statistics on children, youth and families in Kentucky from the Annie E. Casey Foundation and Kentucky Youth Advocates. Reports run on December 8, 2023 at https://datacenter.aecf.org/locations.

<sup>22</sup> U.S. Health and Human Services Department. (2023, July). Proposed Rule Change. Accessed December 8, 2023 at https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2023/07/13/2023-14290/improving-child-care-access-affordability-



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Chaudry A, Wimer C. (2016). Poverty is Not Just an Indicator: The Relationship Between Income, Poverty, and Child Well-Being. Academic Pediatrics, 16(3 Suppl): S23-29. doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2015.12.010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2019). A roadmap to reducing child poverty. National Academies Press.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ratcliffe C, McKernan S. (2012). Child Poverty and Its Lasting Consequences. Washington, DC: Urban Institute.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Duncan, G.J., Ziol-Guest, K.M. and Kalil, A. (2010.) Early-Childhood Poverty and Adult Attainment, Behavior, and Health. Child Development, 81: 306-325. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01396.x

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Wagmiller RL, Lennon MC, Kuang L, et al. (2006). The dynamics of economic disadvantage and children's life chances. American Sociological Review, 71:847-866.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Zhang, L., & Han, W.-J. (2021). Childhood deprivation experience, family pathways, and socioemotional functioning. Journal of Family Psychology, 35(2), 213-224. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000811

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Magnuson, K. (2014). Family Poverty and Neighborhood Poverty: Links With Children's School Readiness. Working Paper. US Dept of Health and Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation.

and-stability-in-the-child-care-and-development-fund-

ccdf#:~:text=Child%20care%20subsidies%20only%20reach,receiving%20assistance%20in%20FY%202019. <sup>23</sup> Kentucky General Assembly. Title 921 / Chapter 002 - K-TAP, Kentucky Works, Welfare to Work, State Supplementation. Accessed July 23, 2023 at https://apps.legislature.ky.gov/law/kar/titles/921/002/.

<sup>24</sup> Kentucky General Assembly. 921 KAR 2:016. Standards of Need and amount for Kentucky Transitional Assistance Program (KTAP). Accessed July 25, 2023 at https://apps.legislature.ky.gov/law/kar/titles/921/002/016/. <sup>25</sup> Kentucky General Assembly. Title 922 | Chapter 002 | Regulation 160 Child Care Assistance Program. Accessed July 28, 2023 at https://apps.legislature.ky.gov/law/kar/titles/922/002/160/.

<sup>26</sup> Albelda, R. & Shea, J. (2010). To Work More or Not to Work More: Difficult Choices, Complex Decisions for Low-Wage Parents, Journal of Poverty, 14:3, 245-265, DOI: 10.1080/10875549.2010.494937.

<sup>27</sup> Calculations for this report relied on State Median Income (SMI) by Household Size for Optional Use in FFY 2022 and Mandatory Use in LIHEAP for FFY 2023 from the Department of Health and Human Services, accessed June 18. 2023 at

https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/ocs/COMM\_LIHEAP\_Att1SMITable\_FY2023.pdf <sup>28</sup> Hsu, A. (2023, October). Kentucky had an outside-the-box idea to fix child care worker shortages. It's working NPR WNYC. https://www.npr.org/2023/10/06/1203182131/kentucky-free-child-care-day-care-workers

<sup>29</sup> A few families reported very high levels of income, but these were not included in estimation as it is believed children in such households are eligible for subsidized care for unusual reasons. In unusual cases, such as one in which a foster child lives with a higher-income family but qualifies for benefit assistance as a "child-only" case, the family belongs in a higher income category; however, such a family is not one that will encounter benefit cliffs. Their income is not part of the calculation of the benefit eligibility as in that for other families.

<sup>30</sup> Weston, S.P. (2023). *Mapping Kentucky Early Childhood*, The Prichard Committee. Accessed October 23, 2023 at https://www.prichardcommittee.org/mapping-kentucky-early-childhood/

<sup>31</sup> Center on Budget and Policy Priorities. (2023, February). Kentucky Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program. Accessed May 31, 2023 at https://www.cbpp.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/snap\_factsheet\_kentucky.pdf

<sup>32</sup> U.S. Department of Agriculture Food and Nutrition Service. (2023, October). Broad-Based Categorical Eligibility (BBCE). Accessed October 23, 2023 at https://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/broad-based-categorical-eligibility.

<sup>33</sup> The excess shelter deduction is an amount that a family pays for shelter costs (including rent and utilities) above half of the household's adjusted income, capped at a maximum shelter cost deduction established by federal rules, adjusted for inflation. As of fiscal year 2023, the maximum shelter cost deduction in the contiguous U.S. for households without elderly or disabled family members is \$624 per month.

<sup>34</sup> This estimate is conservative, based on a projection of increased earnings of just \$1,500, on average, per family. Many families are likely to experience far greater increases in their earnings, particularly if a second parent joins the workforce or a parent accepts a significant job promotion.

<sup>35</sup> Anderson, T., Coffey, A., Daly, H., Hahn, H., Maag, E., & Werner, K. (2022). Balancing at the Edge of the Cliff. <sup>36</sup> Kynect source shared through email from CHFS staff on August 29, 2023. Accessed at

https://khbe.ky.gov/Agents-kynectors/Documents/FPL%20Chart%20Plan%20Year%202023.pdf.

<sup>37</sup> Ercia, A., Le, N. & Wu, R. (2021). Health insurance enrollment strategies during the Affordable Care Act (ACA): a scoping review on what worked and for whom. Archives of Public Health, 79:129. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13690-021-00645-w.

<sup>38</sup> Kaiser Family Foundation. (N.D.) Marketplace Enrollment as a Share of the Potential Marketplace Population. Accessed September 9, 2023 at https://www.kff.org/health-reform/state-indicator/marketplace-plan-selections-as-ashare-of-the-potential-marketplace-

population/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22:%22asc%22%7D <sup>39</sup> The Prichard Committee. (2023). A Fragile Ecosystem V: Kentucky Voters Demand Action on the Child Care Crisis. Accessed October 21, 2023 at https://www.prichardcommittee.org/wpcontent/uploads/2023/10/FragileEcosystem-V.pdf.

<sup>40</sup> Department of Health and Human Services, Administration of Children and Families, Office of Child Care. (2023, July). Federal Register, Proposed Rule Change, 88(133). Improving Child Care Access, Affordability, and Stability in the Child Care and Development Fund (CCDF). Accessed August 4, 2023 at https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2023-07-13/pdf/2023-14290.pdf.

<sup>41</sup> Morrissey, T.W. Child care and parent labor force participation: a review of the research literature, *Rev Econ* Household 15, 1–24 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11150-016-9331-3

<sup>42</sup> Hartley, R. P., Garfinkel, I., Ananat, E., Collyer, S., Wang, B., & Wimer, C. (2022). A Benefit-Cost Analysis of Child Care Subsidy Expansions: The New York State Case. Accessed on October 23, 2023 at

CP National Center for Children in Poverty



Bank Street Graduate School of Education

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/610831a16c95260dbd68934a/t/64ee031fac05f65e18c63fc0/1693319968186/C hild-Care-Subidy-Benefit-Cost-NYS-CPSP-2022.pdf.

<sup>43</sup> Lousiana State Legislature. (2007). RS 47:6106. *Credit for child care directors and staff*. Accessed August 17, 2023 at https://legis.la.gov/Legis/Law.aspx?d=453235.

<sup>44</sup> Child Care Aware of Kentucky. (2021). 2020 Child Care Market Rate Report. Accessed July 13, 2023 at https://www.chfs.ky.gov/agencies/dcbs/dcc/Documents/marketrate.pdf.

<sup>45</sup> *Employee Child Care Assistance Partnership (ECCAP) Program.* Accessed September 12, 2023 at https://kynect.ky.gov/benefits/s/eccap-program?language=en\_US.

<sup>46</sup> The Pritchard Committee. (2022). A Fragile Ecosystem IV: Will Kentucky Child Care Survive When the Dollars Run Out? Accessed June 23, 2023 at https://www.prichardcommittee.org/wp-

content/uploads/2022/09/FragileEcosystemIV.pdf.

